# 2007 Museum Revenue Generation and Fundraising Study

Orinda Group, LLC 5900 wilshire blvd, ste 2600 los angeles, ca 90036

t 323.330.0506 f 323.843.9847

orindagroup.com

Prepared February 2008

All content included in this document is the property of Orinda Group, LLC and protected by United States and international copyright laws.
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
Any use of materials from this document, including reproduction, modification, distribution or republication, without the prior written consent of Orinda Group, LLC is strictly prohibited.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	2
The Orinda Group Revenue Generation Survey	3
Methodology	3
Overview	3
Results	3
Partnering	3
Use of Collections	4
Fundraising	4
Organizational Structure	4
Museum-Owned Businesses	4
Museum Website Service	4
Third-Party Websites	5
Forms of Revenue Generation	7
Earned Income	7
Membership and Outreach	9
Fundraising and Philanthropy	13
Challenges and Opportunities	20
Recommendations	21
Glossary	24
Endnotes	26

#### Introduction

The Urban Institute report *The Nonprofit Sector in Brief:* Facts and Figures from the Nonprofit Almanac 2007 states that the nonprofit sector grew steadily between 1994 and 2004; the number of nonprofit organizations increased as did total assets and revenues. In 2004, nearly 71% of public charity revenues came from fees for goods or services while government grants and private contributions had fallen to 23.5% of overall revenue.

Funding is one of the greatest challenges that museums face as nonprofits. For decades, the standards for museum revenue generation consisted of admissions, concessions, retail and memberships, while the vast majority of funding has come from grants, governmental assistance and private donations.

Since the beginning of the 21st century, however, governmental and private support has been shrinking and inconsistent, forcing museums to seek alternative sources of funding. In spring 2007, Orinda Group began investigating the nature of these alternatives; this white paper is the result of our research.

The purpose of this paper is to provide a snapshot of the current state of museum revenue generation trends, focusing on alternative forms of revenue generation. We hope to explore the efficacy of a variety of revenue generation strategies, as well as introduce museums to new and alternative forms of revenue generation. The paper also will explore the intersection of social media and ephilanthropy, and what lessons museums can learn from the greater nonprofit sector.

Our research began with an investigation of current literature that led to the development of a survey focused on current revenue generation strategies employed by museums. The results of this informal survey—together with our findings from the literature review and comprehensive examination of several specific strategies—form the basis of this paper.

The paper is divided into two sections: specific findings from our nationwide museum revenue generation survey and an examination of broader revenue generation trends. The paper uncovers the challenges and opportunities museums now face regarding new forms of revenue generation. We conclude with our recommended strategies.

# The Orinda Group Revenue Generation Survey

# Methodology

A review of current literature and museum materials indicates that museums are seeking a number of alternative revenue generation methods. These range from variations on more traditional fundraising methods to entirely new strategies based on emerging technologies.

In order to gauge the prevalence of new strategies, Orinda Group created an online survey that museum professionals could access via multiple, industry-specific listserv postings. The survey intended to capture a snapshot of the status of alternative revenue generating and fundraising strategies employed by museums across the country at a particular moment in time (summer 2007).<sup>2</sup>

While the survey gauged revenue generation options that museums employed, a few questions pertained to future intentions. Assuming that all museums use some combination of an on-site gift shop, admissions, concessions, annual fundraising appeal and/or membership, the survey focused on eight alternative sources of revenue:

- Programs
- Partnering
- · Use of collections
- · Fundraising activities
- · Organizational structure
- Museum-operated businesses
- Museum website
- Third-party websites

#### Overview

Representatives of 143 museums responded to the online survey. Not all respondents answered all questions. Of the 143 respondents, most institutions had I-I0 full-time employees (57%) and/or were located in the Mountain-Plains or Midwest regions (51%).

The top three sources of income reported by respondents were federal/state/county/city funds (54%), grants (48%) and memberships (43%).

#### Results

All respondents reported using more than one of the eight alternative sources of revenue.

The four most common activities cited by survey participants were:

- Event Rental (52%)
- Fairs/Festivals (29%)
- Auctions (27%)
- Holiday Shopping Events (27%)

Survey participants cited four most popular revenue generators:

- Event rental (79%)
- Auctions (77%)
- Sleepovers (70%)
- Holiday shopping events (61%)

The least common activity was the production of specialty license plates (3%). However, of that small number, 40% reported success with the approach.

The least successful revenue generators cited by survey participants were:

- Car donations (25%)
- Open-house/behind-the-scenes vents (33%)

Thirty-five percent of museums participated in reciprocal membership programs with other museums. Most respondents (72%) reported that 0-5% of their visitors came from this program. However, 16% of respondents did not track this information so it is unclear how successful these programs actually were.

# **Partnering**

Most museums (78%) have partnered in some way with another organization.

The top four reasons cited for partnering were:

- Increased visibility (60%)
- Collaborative programming (57%)
- Cross-marketing purposes (44%)
- Cooperative grants/funding (40%)

The most common types of museum partnering were:

- Exhibitions
- Digitization
- · Advertising/marketing
- Programming (such as lectures)

Most respondents described these programs successful; intended goals ranged from raising awareness of the museum to revenue generation. However, respondents reported that establishing and maintaining successful long-term partner relationships can be difficult due to differences in personality or organizational culture. Often one partner felt that their organization carried the "lion's share of the work."

In contrast to the 78% of museums that had partnered with other museums, only 16% had engaged in corporate partnerships.

Corporate partnerships projects included:

- Exhibits (48%)
- TV/DVD/documentaries (35%)
- Museum books (4%)
- Public debate (4%)
- Cooperative programming (4%)

Anecdotally, corporate partnership strategies were very successful; most respondents reported tremendous success, measured by things such as DVD sales as well as increased visibility and grant pledges.

Just three respondents reported disappointing results. One respondent mentioned that after the initial success of a traveling exhibition that it was "mothballed," although it was unclear why. Another reported moderate success, but only because their organization "did all the work," and a third respondent hesitantly replied, "We'll see..."

# Use of Collections

Most respondents (72%) did not indicate that their museums used collections to generate revenue. However, twenty respondents (14%) indicated that their museums planned to use collections as a source of revenue generation within the next six months. Only 20% of respondents felt that these strategies were not successful.

#### **Fundraising**

Most museums (58%) had some sort of annual fundraising event. While most respondents (67%) called these events cost-effective, most (93%) reported that the events resulted in only 0 to 20% of total annual revenue. Less than half of the respondents (43%) had engaged in smaller-scale and/or more unusual fundraising activities.

The most common activities included:

- Buy-a-(brick, tile, star, etc.) (25%)
- Adopt-a-(shelf, artifact, animal, exhibit, etc.) (23%)
- Cookbooks (15%)
- Calendars (11%)

Anecdotally, these strategies had mixed success: more survey respondents reported greater success from more specific and imaginative events/programs.

#### Organizational Structure

Many museums (41%) had some type of friends group or related foundation responsible for raising money for the museum. Of these, 66% reported that the museum's friends group generated only 0-10% of annual revenue.

#### Museum-Owned Businesses

Few museums (12%) reported owning or benefiting from a separate business. The nature of these businesses ranged from team-building obstacle courses to farms to museum-related shops and cafes. Although running a separate enterprise can complicate a museum's tax status, a successful venture may offset tax and other associated costs.

# Museum Website Services

The web is a valuable tool for generating revenue for museums. Associated strategies can be divided into two groups: services offered directly on a museum website and external Internet sites designed to help nonprofit organizations locate and procure funding.

Most web strategies can be broken down into e-commerce, e-philanthropy and social media divisions. Museums can employ all of these strategies directly on their websites through offering online retail, admissions and memberships, online donations and resources such as podcasts, videos and downloadable cell phone tours.

Slightly more than half of the responding museums offered some sort of e-commerce or e-philanthropy services. Online memberships were most common (44%).

One quarter of the museums that offered one or more of these services online experienced increase revenues. Roughly 60% of the respondents reported that only 0-5% of their overall sales, donations and admissions came from the Internet. The success rate was higher for online memberships; 70% of respondents reported between 0-10% of total memberships came through the website.

It should be noted, however, that according to a quote from Professor James Austin of the Harvard Business School that appeared the Chronicle of Philanthropy, while only 0.14% of all donations were made online in 2001, by 2010, 33% of all charitable donations will be made online.

"Make no mistake:The e-philanthropy revolution is here to stay, and it will transform charitable giving in as profound a way as technology is changing the commercial world. Charities that have dismissed e-philanthropy as a fad, or run from it in confusion, will, sooner or later, need to become reconciled to it. If they don't, they risk losing touch with donors and imperiling the vitality of their work." <sup>3</sup>

Web 2.0 strategies involve offering online visitors greater flexibility and/or interaction with other visitors and/or design elements. Examples include being able to respond to blog posts, comment on videos, rate events or news items or tag information and images.

Museums can enter the field by producing and offering podcasts, downloadable cell phone tours, blogs, or by inviting the public to "tag" their collections. Most respondents (77%) indicated that their museums did not offer any social media or web 2.0 elements on their museum websites. Of those that did, most offered only podcasts. However, one-third of respondents anticipated their museum adding one or more of these elements to the website within the next six months.

Some of the common responses on the survey to the question, "Why offer online services?" included:

- To provide more resources
- To build awareness
- To "keep up with the Joneses"
- To reach a broader audience
- To provide more content
- To provide a flexible means for audience interaction
- To attract new demographics
- · Because it is low cost and low risk
- To get funds

Online offering success rates varied substantially but seem to be increasing. Some survey responses included:

- We are measuring traffic/usage of these technologies.
   It has been slower to get off the ground than originally thought. Question also of how well we market the capabilities to the visitor.
- Greater buy-in from the community. Overall richer experience. More to choose from
- The availability to register for educational programs online offers a great service to busy parents. Often a registration leads to an online membership purchase because we offer reduced program fees to our members.
- I think that they will be successful in time, but for now, we need to do a better job of training our audience to think of the web as a resource.

### Third-Party Websites

For the purposes of this survey, non-museum websites can be divided into two categories: e-philanthropy and social media/social networking.

Some may question why we included social media sites in a study of museum revenue generation trends. "Friendraising" hardly is a new concept in the museum field. The basic premise is that museum support is built upon relationships. While cultivating these relationships may not result in immediate or direct financial gain for the museum, they can be greatly beneficial to long-term sustainability.

Museum development departments may spend months or even years cultivating a particular donor while social networking sites allow museums to reach out simultaneously to many potential stakeholders. Even more exciting, once a museum establishes a profile on a social networking site, people can seek the museum or find it by using key word searches. Most social media sites provide a free way for museums to contact a broader audience.

Social media sites also allow online visitors to interact with the museum in genuinely new ways. For example, the Tate Modern in London included the general public in its British photography exhibition, *How We Are Now.* The museum established a Flickr group in order for people to submit their own photos of Britain. The group has over 3,000 members and over 6,000 photographs.<sup>4</sup>

The Fresno Metropolitan Museum in California is currently building a new facility. In an effort to keep visitors and members engaged during the temporary closure, the museum posted videos on YouTube of the demolition of their offices. They have had 372 views in 3 months. Additionally, the social media sites Facebook<sup>5 6</sup> and

LinkedIn<sup>7</sup> now offer members opportunities to support—both financially and through advocacy—nonprofits and charitable causes. <sup>8 9 10</sup> Giving has become arguably trendy in the last year, with celebrities such as Angelina Jolie, Brad Pitt and Bono visibly providing financial support to causes both globally and locally, leading Trendwatching. com to declare that "giving is the new taking." <sup>11</sup>

Peer pressure with regard to giving and person-to-person giving campaigns<sup>12</sup> also has become popular in the past year, with the Parade Magazine and Case Foundation America's Giving Challenge serving as the largest example of this trend. Readers of Parade Magazine, Facebook users and the general public are encouraged to find as many people as possible to support the cause of their choice. The eight causes with the largest number of unique donors will receive \$50,000 each.<sup>13</sup>

Nonetheless, despite the benefits of using social media sites, 78% of the museums surveyed did not. Of those that did, the most popular sites included MySpace (6%), YouTube (5%), Flickr (2%) and Yahoo Groups (1.4%). None of the respondents reported using online event announcement sites such as Eventful ("the world's largest collection of events")<sup>14</sup> or Party4APurpose ("the place where anyone can post, promote, invite and RSVP to any social event with purpose in the country"),<sup>15</sup> despite the fact that Eventful often lists over 400 museum activities in just the Los Angeles area alone. However, 14% of the museums surveyed indicate that they plan on using one of these sites within the next six months.

The most common responses to the question, "Why use a social networking site?" included:

- · To stay connected with stakeholders
- To attract new demographics
- For more effective/efficient communication
- To "keep up with the Joneses"
- · Because it is low cost and low risk
- For better/wider outreach

It is important to note that the two most common responses to the question, "How have social networking sites helped your museum?" were that they have increased awareness of the museum and broadened the museum audience.

Again, 78% of the museums surveyed were not currently using a third-party e-philanthropy site, although 13% indicated that they planned to use one within the next six months. Interestingly, those museums that were using e-philanthropy sites were using sites in which a portion of the proceeds from shopping or from using an Internet

search engine goes to the museum, rather than the sites that allow individuals to donate directly to the museum.

The most commonly reported third-party search and shopping e-philanthropy websites included:

- shopformuseums.com (3.5%)
- goodsearch.com (3%)
- eBay's missionfish.com (1.4%)
- iGive.com (1.4%)
- freepldege.com (0.7%)

Anecdotally, most responses indicated that e-philanthropy was not very useful to museums, although many reported that it still seemed too early to gauge the results with any accuracy. Possibly contributing to these attitudes may be the fact that respondents seemed to think that e-philanthropy is "low-cost and low-risk." While it is true that most e-philanthropy sites are free to use, engaging in an online giving program—whether via a museum website or through a third-party donation site—requires a significant commitment of both time and human resources. It is an unfortunate myth that e-philanthropy takes no effort.

#### Forms of Revenue Generation

There are three principal ways that museums generate revenue:

- Earned Income:
- · Membership and Outreach;
- · Fundraising and Philanthropy.

Each of these avenues can consist of traditional and/or alternative strategies. Presently, the majority of alternative strategies—particularly for Fundraising/Philanthropy and Membership/Outreach—are executed via online initiatives.

#### Earned Income

Admissions, concessions and retail are the most ubiquitous of the traditional forms of earned income for museums. Second tier forms of earned income include:

- Event/site rental;
- Filming/location rentals;
- · Programs and events;
- Traveling exhibition programs or blockbuster exhibitions.

The division between traditional and alternative earned income strategies is not always clear; some traditional forms can be occasionally comprised of alternatives. For example, new forms of retail, such as online gift stores and print-on-demand programs, have emerged in recent years. The Metropolitan Museum of Art made a conscious decision not to be at the forefront of print-on-demand services, but rather to wait and evaluate how the technology would be received, how fast it would improve and how quickly particular technologies or applications would become obsolete. Once the museum did enter the print-on-demand field, it did so cautiously. The Met began "low-tech:" a staff member took orders for highend reproduction photographs and prints. Everything was done in-house, using the Met photography studio to print the orders.

Later, the museum partnered with a vendor to create a kiosk for the main museum store where customers could order lower-resolution reproductions of other artworks. Kiosk orders related to special exhibitions and not the general permanent collection. As a result, images from other museums or collections were available, if included as part of a special exhibition. After several years, the Met print-on-demand program has been successful. <sup>16</sup>

The sale of limited editions is another trend in museum retailing. Initially, "multiples" began as development tools: special gifts for donors and high-level patrons. <sup>17</sup> Now, in many museums, they are available to any museum store patron. Several organizations have employed this strategy successfully, including Lincoln Center for the Performing Arts, the Whitney Museum of American Art and the New Museum in New York City. Artists' editions can serve as a revenue source, involve new and emerging artists with the museum world and involve corporate sponsors with artists.

In the past, the membership/development department or the director's office almost exclusively handled artist's editions. More recently, there has been a shift towards offering multiples as a part of museum retail efforts. One reason for this is costs. The program at the Whitney became prohibitively expensive until it was moved from the Director's Office to the store. 18 The New Museum features a hybrid program that divides responsibilities between retail and development. More unique editions are offered only to mid- and upper-level members. The New Museum program includes posters, prints, books, sculptures and a DVD of commissioned pieces. (While the DVD itself is an unlimited educational tool, they offered the first 200 DVDs with a special limited edition print.) Corporations also are partnering either with museums or artists to create special editions. 19

While traveling exhibition programs are a more traditional form of earned income generation, they have in some cases become the purview of business departments or a division designed specifically to foster partnerships with other museums.

In recent years, the Natural History Museum in London made a commitment to professionalize the business practices of its commercial ventures. The commercial activities division originally was established to respond to the revenue loss that resulted from the government repeal of admissions a few years earlier. The division consists of several elements that include:

- Wildlife Photographer of the Year program (a juried competition that results in a traveling exhibition)
- Image resources
- Popular publishing
- Customer development (i.e., membership)
- Events
- · Retail and catering
- International business development

By consolidating all programs under one department, undertaking a re-branding campaign, establishing key performance indicators and aligning programs with current business standards, the museum increased total revenue and visibility even after losing all admission revenue. Some of the key results of consolidating departments and business units included:

- Collaborations between the licensing department and the science departments resulted in unique and popular products for the gift stores, including a remote control tarantula and bug-catching guns
- A dino-specific shop was established, as well as another shop and an online shop, resulting in 750,000 pounds of income
- Establishment of admission fees for special/temporary exhibitions
- Establishment of a garden shop and restaurant in the summer
- Online ticketing options that have proven to be very successful
- · Brand products in the High Street shops
- 14% of total museum income is now earned from trading activities<sup>20</sup>

The goal of the Commercial Strategy Division remains to achieve 10% annual growth while supporting the museum mission.

The Natural History Museum, London is not the only museum that has established a business program. The Smithsonian, the Exploratorium in San Francisco and the Oakland Museum of California also have business development departments.

The Professional Services department at the Oakland Museum of California began as a contract with the Port of Oakland to develop and install exhibits in airport terminal corridors. From that, an entire department arose to develop and install exhibits for external organizations as well as to provide other museum consulting services.

The Center for Museum Partnerships, a division of the Exploratorium, develops and builds traveling exhibits and exhibition components for sale as part of a larger program that creates and fosters relationships with other museums.

The Smithsonian has a separate for-profit company— Smithsonian Business Ventures (SBV)—that is charged with supporting the museum system through commercial endeavors; in some ways, SBV is the for-profit equivalent of a friends group or private support foundation. SBV includes media and licensing, all Smithsonian magazines and retail and concession operations.

Corporate sponsorship and partnering have been associated with museum exhibitions for decades. However, museums now are beginning to form creative partnerships with entities that include major media companies (such as the SBV partnership with the Showtime cable television channel), game producers and even wineries.

A successful creative partnership exists between the Waddeson Manor, a historic manor in the UK, and the Rothschild vineyards. Rothschild gives Waddesdon a certain number of bottles each year for wine trading purposes. In addition to using wine as an investment tool, Rothschild also allots bottles to Waddesdon to sell under their own label, or to create specialized labels for other businesses. For example, Buckingham Palace has its own label of Rothschild wine that it procures through Waddesdon—and Waddesdon receives all the profits. Essentially, Rothschild subsidizes the historic house through allotments of wine.<sup>21</sup>

While creative partnering can lead to increased income, it is more likely to be a successful outreach and awareness-raising tool, such as Wolfquest, the online educational game developed by Minnesota Zoo and Eduweb.<sup>22</sup> This partnership created several other highly successful online games, such as Zoo Matchmaker<sup>23</sup> and a series of tiger adventure games.<sup>24</sup>

Other partnerships may serve to aid multiple organizations, such as the formation of a tax district or the initiation of a ballot measure. The Denver Museum of Nature and Science substantially benefits from participation in the Scientific and Cultural Facilities District. <sup>25</sup> Another tax-based initiative in Colorado is the I.5% real estate transfer tax that benefits the Crested Butte Land Trust. <sup>26</sup> <sup>27</sup>

In Texas, museums and other nonprofits may petition to receive the proceeds of charitable gaming. The Bell County Museum operates a charitable bingo hall, although museum staff members reportedly have never entered the establishment. Charitable gaming also is available in North Dakota, Virginia, Michigan, Kentucky and Nebraska among other states.

# Membership and Outreach

Direct mail, community events and programs, and brochures have been traditional staples of membership drives and museum outreach. These tools have been reshaped and augmented by the advent of online technologies.

Debates rage between fundraisers and membership directors about direct mail versus online acquisition. Fundraising expert Jeff Brooks references an article in FundRaising Success magazine about this issue. <sup>30</sup>

The article makes a series of observations about online fundraising that are worth a look. Here are some of them:

- Direct-mail campaigns generate a higher initial response rate.
- Online acquisition campaigns usually generate higher average gifts.
- Predictive analysis in direct mail is more accurate at this time, so you are able to reduce risk.
- Direct mail-only donors tend to renew at higher rates than online-only donors, but multichannel (those giving online and in the mail) often are your strongest donors.
- It frequently is more difficult to persuade a directmail donor to give online than the other way around.
- High average gifts online can lead to an increased long-term (24 months) donor value; however it is important to consider how the average gift is "masking" the lower retention when calculating donor value.
- Emergency or current events-related campaigns improve the performance of both direct-mail and online campaigns, but giving can increase drastically online during such times.
- A higher percentage of direct-mail donors are likely to be institutional donors, i.e., who support your cause, not just a single issue.
- The cost of mail continues to increase, and online campaigns are frequently less expensive.
- Nonprofit giving trends show more and more people likely to give online in the coming years.

Our conclusion at the end of the session was that as Internet fundraising continues to increase, it is important for organizations to consider online acquisition campaigns. At the same time, much like in the commercial world, mail still plays a vital role in the growth and maintenance of your membership file.

To help your organization determine the proper blend, consider your membership acquisition goals. Are you looking to maximize your upfront income? Break out

into new markets? Develop future audiences? Increase retention? Offset increased postage costs?

All these things are true in my experience too. Knowing the differences can save you a ton of trouble.<sup>31</sup>

Muse Award-winning company Amuze Interactive has created a system that simultaneously increases stakeholders and revenue streams via a CD that allows visitors greater access to information about exhibits and collections: as a visitor walks through the exhibits, he or she uses the CD to "capture" any object that the visitor would like to learn about in greater detail via online resources. The CD accomplishes the goals of information dissemination and marketing and tracking purposes. The physical CD also offers opportunities for corporate partnership/sponsorship. Currently, the program is in use only at the Natural History Museum in Stockholm.<sup>32</sup>

# Use of Social Media

By joining social networking sites such as MySpace or Facebook, museums can reach a broad audience and attract more visitors to their own online offerings. Providing content for social media sites such as Flickr and YouTube also can attract online visitors and enable the museum to increase the amount and variety of content that they share with the public.

The real challenge in this arena is repeat visitation. Tactics include offering fresh podcasts, vodcasts and cellphone tours for download, maintaining a regularly updated blog, allowing online visitors greater interactivity through comments and tagging, and ensuring that the museum website is current and fresh. Offering online donations, admissions, memberships and retail allows visitors to give directly to the museum. While this approach can involve development and employee costs, it can be very cost-efficient.

One could argue that museums should wait to see where these technologies go and which emerge as proven investments of resources. However, Orinda Group recommends that some strategies could be employed safely at this time. While the field of e-philanthropy is still developing, museums that demonstrate real interest and investment in this area possibly stand a better chance of attracting the attention of funders with new technology interests. (For example, the cost of building an e-philanthropy and/ or e-commerce-enabled website could be covered by a grant rather than by the museum budget.) Museums that successfully execute these sorts of projects will establish themselves as leaders in the field and increase their visibility.

Other museum professionals might be skeptical of the time required to establish and maintain social media pages or to redevelop an organizational website. We already have mentioned that making effective social media sites/pages requires an investment of time. Also, the museum will need to devote resources to ensure that content on the museum profile(s) remains fresh and engaging.

However, we would argue that these activities are worth-while investments. With regard to the concept of friend-raising, social networking sites literally offer the opportunity for people to befriend the museum. This may sound like a superficial gesture but it seems to be taken both seriously and literally. "Friends" in online communities may never meet in person but still may have strong ties to one another based on shared interests, experiences and goals. Social networking sites such as MySpace allow museums to connect with people interested in the ideals, values, collections and missions expressed and displayed on museum profiles.

Naturally, there also are some potential hazards to entering social networks at this time. It takes time to develop a consistent blog and/or profile voice, to get into the habit of posting regularly and to determine the kinds of content visitors want to see/hear/experience. However, these obstacles should not deter museums from entering the social network arena. Now is the time to create online social experiences so that when e-philanthropy begins to meet a projected outcome of 33% of all donations, the museum website will be established, professional and attractive to potential donors. Studies conducted to determine if a strong online presence really results in increased revenues concluded that the larger an email list, the more successful online revenue generation strategies will be.33 A great way to bulk up an email list is through social network "friending" or via services such as Bitmove.34

Bitmove is a Dutch company that has developed a video mail system that is highly successful at the Van Gogh Museum, the Rijksmuseum and the Anne Frank House, as well as several non-museum organizations in the Netherlands. Bitmove produces kiosks that visitors use to record video greetings at the museum to send to friends and family via email. When the recipient receives the email, he or she is directed to the museum website in order to retrieve the video greeting. The end product is a fun and popular activity at the museum that raises awareness of the museum and museum website. Additionally, the kiosks compile all entered email addresses into an extensive marketing database. The kiosks also can be used to record visitor reactions to exhibitions and these messages can be deployed on the museum website.

For the Van Gogh Museum, Bitmove generated:

- 250,000 unique website visitors
- 22% increase in online sales
- 80.000 testimonials<sup>35</sup>

The Brooklyn Museum is a frontrunner among museums employing social media. With multiple blogs<sup>36</sup> and a MySpace<sup>37</sup> profiles boasting over 10,000 friends, the Brooklyn Museum has done much to cultivate an online audience. In order to test the strength of the connections made through social networking initiatives, the museum held an event that was advertised only via the museum MySpace profile. More than 1,000 people attended. Moreover, by using Flickr and Blip.tv to engage online visitors and to incorporate visitor input into exhibitions, the museum increased its visibility and its audience. <sup>38</sup>

With over 60,000 views of the "It's My Art" series of videos, <sup>39</sup> The Indianapolis Museum of Art is for museums on YouTube what the Brooklyn Museum is for museums on MySpace. IMA also has been lauded throughout the tech and nonprofit communities for the creation of their online "dashboard:"<sup>40</sup> a series of museum statistics that includes the average time a visitor spends looking at their website, the number of artworks on loan, electrical consumption and even financial information. As fundraising expert Jeff Brooks explains, the museum "is telling its public that anyone who cares is an insider." He goes on to say that "the very fact that they're sharing ... makes people respect the museum more. And who knows what infosated donors might choose to do for an organization they feel trusts and respects them!"<sup>41</sup>

The president of the MacArthur Foundation generated substantial buzz through his announcement to create a SecondLife avatar and host a meeting about the future of philanthropic initiatives in the LindenLab virtual community. <sup>42 43</sup> Despite that event and the presence of a nonprofit commons in SecondLife where real nonprofits are virtually fundraising for real currency, <sup>44</sup> very few museums currently have a presence in the 3D online virtual world. <sup>45</sup> This may be changing, however, although it is still unclear in what ways museums will use SecondLife. <sup>46</sup> Presently, the Tech Museum of Innovation is using it as part of the museum's radical new approach to collaborative exhibition development, <sup>47</sup> but whether or not this could eventually generate revenue remains unclear.

These sorts of scenarios inevitably make museum professionals ask, "What is the true return on investment regarding social media for nonprofits?" Care 2 offers an online tool called Frogloop, the Social Network Calculator, to help museums estimate the value of social media involvement. The site explains:

You can use this tool to calculate an estimate of cost and return on investment for the recruitment and fundraising efforts of your staff in social networking sites like Facebook or MySpace. It works sort of like an online mortgage calculator. Just enter the starting assumptions in the yellow boxes below and the tool calculates results automatically.<sup>49</sup>

Additionally, Frogloop offers benchmarking studies to use as metric guidelines.

However, one might argue that even when returns are relatively low, it is important for nonprofits to invest in social media because it represents a willingness to acknowledge and encourage changes regarding how people organize for social change and form lasting relationships through groups. Others argue that while the sector most likely has not had adequate exposure to social media to understand what kinds of results to expect or how to measure them, the impact and success of social media engagement may be less tangible and quantifiable than one might hope. Examples include the "priceless" feeling a donor might experience "of having a voice in, being heard by, and participating in your favorite cause." 51

Suggestions for productive experimentation include:

- Start with a smaller project that will require only limited resources. [Invest a little]
- Write down your successes and put them in an important place. [Examine the investment]
- Write down your challenges and put them in that same important place. [Examine the investment]
- Ask the people you want to connect with whether they think your outreach and listening is valuable and keep their answers in the special spot, too. [Examine the investment]
- Watch other nonprofits and copy and remix for your own purposes. [Research other investments]
- Rinse, repeat.<sup>52</sup>

Similarly, social media can be applied to a problem that other methods have not been able to solve: the ability to identify a need or an existing problem with a quantifiable baseline in order to have "a reasonably controlled experiment." <sup>53</sup>

Nina Simon, exhibition developer and author of the blog Museum 2.0, examines the negative perceptions of social media and web 2.0 technologies and looks at how those elements can make use of the technology in an inclusive manner, primarily by discussing resource impact and the sharing of insider information about the technology.<sup>54</sup>

This point underscores the new emphasis on transparency within the nonprofit sector. One loose definition of transparency could be "Here's what we're doing and why and what it amounts to." The need for increased transparency comes as a result of reports of nonprofit mismanagement and in response to the desire of nonprofit stakeholders to become more involved and have a greater understanding of the way organizations function. As one fundraiser has stated, "The days of nonprofit secrecy will soon be over." 56

Leslie Madsen-Brooks's blog posts have examined the benefits of some of the most popular sites: Flickr, MySpace, Facebook, YouTube, LinkedIn and Twitter. She states that if museums approach these sites "thoughtfully and courageously, museum 'content'—by which I mean such information as construction updates, new exhibition announcements, mash-up applications that draw on museum collections, and more—can circulate through key constituencies on these sites ... I think, used well and targeted toward niche audiences, many social networking sites will allow museums to meet their goals." She goes on to explain:

Institutions need to enter these spaces with firm answers to these questions:

- What audience(s) are we trying to reach, and why?
- What information do we want to convey to these people?
- · What actions do we want them to take?
- Demographically, where do these constituents congregate online?
- Do these virtual spaces provide the tools that will allow us to circulate our message?
- Do the sites then provide ways for users to circulate our message without too much further effort from us--that is, do the sites allow for percolation, or will our message merely appear for a moment and then pass quickly from users' radar?<sup>58</sup>

Madsen-Brooks feels that Facebook and LinkedIn work best on an individual rather than institutional level, with LinkedIn providing possible opportunities for donor prospecting or searching for guest speakers,<sup>59</sup> but says of MySpace:

It's not surprising that MySpace is so popular with museum marketers, as it's not only among the most-trafficked social networking sites, but also may be number six on the list of the world's most popular English-language websites. MySpace also attracts the participation of a young audience that most museums would love to capture as lifelong patrons.<sup>60</sup>

Twitter,<sup>61</sup> a communication tool that allows users to answer the question, "What are you doing?" in 140 characters or less and broadcast it to other users via the Internet or SMS technology, Madsen-Brooks feels is "laborintensive" in that it requires staff members to post many "tweets" in order to broadcast effectively the museum's message, however

...it doesn't take a lot of staff time, and there's no learning curve to speak of. And if you did take the time to plan out a marketing campaign, Twitter would allow for a good deal of creativity--and keep your institution in front of Twitter users. Imagine, for example, the tweets of a charismatic and quirky (or, even better, well-recognized) historical figure. Robert E. Lee posts from Gettysburg. Harriet Tubman from the Underground Railroad. (Who wouldn't add Harriet Tubman as a friend?) The folks at Plimoth Plantation share their daily trials and joys, all in their particular dialect. 62

Nina Simon recommends automatic updates about exhibitions or broadcasting information about upcoming events as potential uses of Twitter.<sup>63</sup>

Regarding YouTube, Madsen-Brooks notes that it can be a "viral" tool in that it is relatively easy for content to spread between people via video embedding options. Museums can create videos for a number of different purposes, such as highlighting exhibition content or airing academic lectures.<sup>64</sup>

The photo-sharing site, Flickr, is Madsen-Brooks' favorite social media website for museum use.

Unlike Facebook and MySpace, where visitors can leave notes or comments, Flickr allows people to actively create the core content in what Flickr calls a "photostream" or "set...." Some people may feel intimidated by new media terms like blogs, Facebook, and MySpace (as well as our attempts to define them), but "photo sharing" is, in the industrialized world at least, just about universally understandable.<sup>65</sup>

Nina Simon lists five reasons why she feels museums should be using Flickr:

- I. It has the most photos from the most people and places...
- 2. Tagging makes photo search flexible and powerful...
- 3. Sharing is really easy...
- 4. Commenting and review functionality...
- 5. It's (mostly) free.66

Google Earth Outreach is a more obscure social media application for nonprofits. This service has proved especially useful for causes such as Save Darfur but could also serve museums.

As a non-profit or public benefit group, you can use Google Earth to capture the work you're doing, the people you're helping, the challenges you face and the change you're helping to enable - all in the visual context of the environment in which these stories take place. By downloading your KML files, anyone, anywhere can fly in Google Earth from where they live to where you do your work. This virtual visit to the projects and people you support gets users engaged and passionate about what you're doing and builds support for your cause. 67

Nonprofit technology experts Beth Kanter and Rebecca Krause-Hardie have compiled an introduction to social media for arts groups entitled, Mixing Social Media Tools with Marketing Communication for Arts Organizations. Although it primarily focuses on symphonies, operas, theaters and other performance arts groups, the information is germane to the museum field. One important message that they share is that

It is important to remember that you are not being forced to throw out your traditional communications strategies. They still work! We are talking about blending. Once you have an understanding of the new way the Internet is working, you should begin with some low risk experiments. You define outcomes, some metrics, and put it forth. You improve as you go.<sup>68</sup>

Despite the fact that many museums have yet to make use of social media and Web 2.0 technologies, a recent study conducted by the University of Massachusetts Dartmouth's Center for Marketing Research found that close to one-third of the Forbes 200 largest charities are using Web 2.0 strategies to connect with their constituents. According to the study, online video was most heavily used (41%); blogging and social networking came in second place (34%). Description of the study of the second place (34%).

The results of this study indicate that, at least among the larger organizations, the nonprofit sector uses social media more than the business sector.<sup>71 72</sup>

At the close of 2007, The Chronicle of Philanthropy asked several nonprofit leaders for their thoughts on what might happen in the nonprofit sector in 2008. Not surprisingly, several respondents mentioned the online technologies and social media. Daniel Ben-Horin, founder and co-chief executive officer of TechSoup (formerly CompuMentor) in San Francisco felt that "successful nonprofit players in the new media space will be those who figure out how to interface with the broad platforms like YouTube, Flickr, del.icio.us, Blogger, Miro, SecondLife, Google Maps, or Facebook by implementing campaigns that have both personal and organizational resonance..." but cautioned that "they have to understand the opportunity without being seduced by it." Sean Stannard-Stockton, director of philanthropic services at Ensemble Capital and author of the blog Tactical Philanthropy, listed ten events that "could happen, and just might, with a little bit of luck." Many focused on the Internet, including the predictions that the CEO of a major nonprofit will start a blog that will quickly become the most popular philanthropy blog resulting in an influx of small-level donations and that after "Facebook's Causes application is believed to have played a significant role in the increased voter turnout for the 2008 presidential election among 18- to 24-year-olds, charities recognize the potential of social-media tools and finally get serious about integrated online strategies."73

# Fundraising and Philanthropy

Traditional forms of fundraising and philanthropy include:

- · Capital campaigns;
- Annual campaigns;
- · Corporate sponsorships;
- · Bequests and planned giving;
- Foundation grants;
- · Individual giving;
- Governmental support and grants.

Even though governmental funding has declined in recent years, the results of the Orinda Group Revenue Generation Survey suggest that federal, state and foundation support still tend to be some of the largest sources of museum revenues. (It is important to note, however, that this may be a result of the geography of the respondents; according to a study done by the California Association of Museums, state and federal funding of museums has declined greatly and on average California museums are primarily funded by private sources, largely individual donations.)<sup>74</sup>

Another ubiquitous form of museum fundraising is a large annual event or gala. Recently, some museums have attempted more innovative forms of fundraising activities, such as Adopt-an-Artifact or Name-a-Species programs, but these typically are never as successful as the larger and more systemic forms of philanthropic requests, such as grant-seeking and annual campaigns.

### The Rise of e-Philanthropy

The arrival of e-philanthropy has marked the greatest changes in fundraising and philanthropic activities for the entire nonprofit sector in the last decade. While some research indicates that the nonprofit sector has enjoyed general success with online fundraising, the results of the Orinda Group Revenue Generation Survey indicate that this remains a very new strategy for museums. The relative merits and challenges of e-philanthropy are inconclusive despite the fact that those museums that engage in e-philanthropy are optimistic about its future.

However, based on professional literature and the success that e-philanthropy enjoys in the larger nonprofit sector, museums should investigate the nature of this strategy. What approaches and techniques are the most popular and effective? What types of e-philanthropy websites work for museums? What do nonprofit technology experts recommend as best practices?

Although it became a viable reality in the late 1990s, e-philanthropy is still in its infancy. Demonstrated interest from the greater philanthropic world—including major foundations and granting organizations such as the MacArthur Foundation<sup>75</sup> and the Institute for Museum and Library Sciences<sup>76</sup>—indicates that a growing number of organizations are using e-philanthropy, and that the online identification, solicitation and donation of funds will be an important source of funding for nonprofits in the future.

E-philanthropy offers perceived donor benefits that include more flexible giving methods, an increased sense of community as donors create giving circles or identify other donors with similar interests, and greater personalization—the ability to donate to projects or programs that appeal to specific geographic and/or thematic donor interests.

Some perceived nonprofit benefits include lower fundraising costs (compared to direct mail campaigns, for example), the means to reach a larger audience and to connect with prospective donors outside of the immediate area and, ultimately, the potential to increase overall revenue.

While this may sound like a "win-win" situation for both nonprofits and donors, it is important to consider the following concerns. While some have described e-philanthropy as "low-cost, low-risk," it requires continual effort to maximize the effectiveness of e-philanthropy tactics, both on the museum website and on external/third-party websites. Also, associated expenses might include licenses for specialized software that will allow the museum to build an e-philanthropy-enabled website, as well as time and employee resources to maintain internal or external mechanisms.

Third-party e-philanthropy sites are still developing. New ones appear regularly as older sites shift focus. Many have similar or competing missions and it remains unclear which sites ultimately will become the standards.

In the spring of 2007, fundraising consultant Gayle Roberts attended a session at the San Francisco Foundation Center where several philanthropy experts commented on the future of the nonprofit sector. Some of their predictions included:

- Fundraising will leverage technology in ways we can't even imagine today.
- Social entrepreneurs will become the drivers of new philanthropy.
- Corporate giving will disappear, to be replaced by various forms of cause marketing.
- The tin cup style of fundraising will be dead.77

These predictions indicate the growing importance of e-philanthropy.

Types of e-Philanthropy Websites

The nine types of e-philanthropy websites include:

- Third-party donation sites;
- Charity evaluation sites;
- · Charity-donor matching sites;
- Advocacy sites;
- Shop-to-give sites;
- Search-to-give sites;
- Click-to-give sites;
- · Microfinance sites;
- Online-giving-enabled nonprofit websites.

Each type meets a particular need for the nonprofit, the donor or both. Currently, third-party donation, charity evaluation and charity-donor matching websites sites are the most popular.

Third-party donation sites allow donors to give to non-profits of their choice online. At this time, many nonprofit websites cannot process online donations so the ability to link to a third-party donation site becomes important. The most popular third-party donation site is NetworkforGood. 78

If nonprofit administrators elect to allow visitors to make donations via the organizational website, they may choose to purchase proprietary software such as e-Tapestry<sup>79</sup> or CharityFinders<sup>80</sup> in order to build web pages that allow donors to give online, purchase tickets to exhibits or events (including fundraising events), become a member or renew a membership. A chart comparing various e-philanthropy software packages is available through Affinity Resources.<sup>81</sup>

Proprietary systems present potential challenges. Often, actual payment processing occurs on the vendor site rather than the museum website. While this relieves the museum of the responsibility of tracking credit cards numbers and personal identification information, many vendor websites are not 100% hacker safe, as Convio<sup>82</sup> and the nonprofits it served learned in fall 2007. Although no sensitive information was stolen, the negative fallout from the security breach resulted in several groups abandoning Convio.<sup>83 84</sup>

Charity evaluation sites may offer an online giving option or partner with a third-party donation site in order to permit donors to give to highly ranked nonprofits. However, the primary function of these sites is to help donors

to assess and compare respective attributes and values of selected nonprofits. These sites, such as CharityNavigator, <sup>85</sup> remain somewhat controversial as members of the philanthropic community debate the best metrics to be used to evaluate a nonprofit. CharityNavigator relies solely on information listed on nonprofit IRS Form 990 and ranks nonprofits according to how much of their money goes towards programs as opposed to overhead.

Some feel that the financial data from the 990 Form has been used only because it is easy to collect and compare. However, it does not actually relate useful information in terms of the health or effectiveness of a particular nonprofit.86 Instead, groups such as GiveWell,87 a boutique charity evaluation site, offer alternatives to gauge the effectiveness of a nonprofit. GiveWell offers grants to nonprofits and uses the application process to learn about the organization. Based on these findings, GiveWell recommends four or five nonprofits in a series of thematic categories, such as global poverty and education improvement. The website is relatively small and specific, listing only those nonprofits that it has evaluated. (Contrarily, CharityNavigator lists every nonprofit that completes a Form 990.) GuideStar88 similarly evaluates nonprofits. However, this site includes much more information about each organization, attempting to be the best single source for comprehensive nonprofit financial information.

GreatNonprofits is another charity evaluation site. Described as the "Zagat Guide" of nonprofits, it seeks to offer "a place to find, review, and talk about great -- and perhaps not yet great -- nonprofits. You already know that reviews by other people who have gone to a restaurant or tried out a doctor are the best way to find out about the quality of those services. If you have direct experience with a nonprofit, GreatNonprofits makes it easier for you to share your knowledge so that other people can discover the great nonprofits that are out there."

Other nonprofit evaluation sites include the Better Business Bureau's Wise Giving Alliance, 90 the American Institute of Philanthropy's list of top rated charities (although museums seem to missing from the list), 91 the Just Give Guide, which lists over 1000 nonprofits that meet the particular criteria stipulated by the site92 and Helpalot, seeking to facilitate finding "charity projects you trust." 93

Charity-donor matching sites allow donors to match specific interests with particular projects or nonprofit organizations. Donors Choose 94 permits donors to find specific classroom projects that appeal to their interests (such as purchasing bins in which to store athletic equipment or materials for making math classes more handson), to locate schools in need in the donor's area or to

locate school programs according to the type of school (charter, public, private) or type of teacher (Teach for America). Also, a combination of these options can be used to ensure that the donor's money goes to a program that bests meets his or his interests. Similar sites focusing on other causes include GlobalGiving (international relief) and iCare, 95 (person-to-person giving in response to natural disasters).

One thing that separates GlobalGiving from other charity-donor matching sites is that it offers "satisfaction guaranteed" through the GlobalGiving Guaranteed program. The premise behind the program is that donors are also consumers and if for any reason their giving experience is not all that they had hoped it would be, they deserve a refund. So far other charity-donor matching sites have yet to follow this example and it is still unclear whether or not the program will be successful, either by attracting and assuring new site users or by fulfilling GlobalGiving's desire for customer satisfaction.

Change.org<sup>99</sup> has been called "social networking + online giving."

Last month, Change.org launched a new service to allow nonprofits to create their own branded social networks on its platform. This month they've teamed up with Network for Good. The partnership will allow nonprofits that receive donations through Network for Good to create a branded social network on Change.org, and nonprofits that receive donations through Change.org to use Network for Good's giving system to track donations, email supporters, and manage donor data. 100

Grantsfire<sup>101</sup> serves as an aggregator of grant information and subsequently produces a searchable database for nonprofits seeking grants. DoSomething.org is primarily aimed at younger people and actively makes use of Facebook applications in its efforts to help young people find an appropriate cause for which to "do something." Both WiserEarth 103 and BringLight 104 seek to create links between individual donors and the nonprofits they support. However, while WiserEarth features wiki-style user content generation and editing capabilities, the charities listed on BringLight have been pre-approved by the site. BringLight also hosts a group of donors on LinkedIn.

At this time, there are no donor-nonprofit matching websites that specialize in museums and very few even seem to support museums or their causes and goals. Orinda Group intends to address this oversight by creating MuseumFunder, <sup>105</sup> a website that will enable museums and potential funders to find each another.

Advocacy websites, sometimes also referred to as person-to-person (P2P) or "wired fundraising" los sites, are social networking sites with a philanthropic or altruistic focus. These sites allow donors or social activists to meet, share causes and encourage one another to participate in philanthropy and social action. Care2 los may be known mostly as a site that generates e-cards for holidays and special occasions, but the its tagline is "Discover, Share, Take Action!" It serves as a resource for people looking to find ways to make a difference through financial contributions or action, or to find others who are interested in similar causes, such as the environment, green living or animal rights.

Changents, <sup>108</sup> a hybrid of "change" and "agents" aims for a hip look and features videos of young people going into the community and engaging in social action, such as feeding homeless people or reducing pollution. The site's tagline is "Know it. Talk it up. Make it happen." Members of the site are encouraged to post about causes that are important to them, tell what they are doing to help and invite others to participate.

ChipIn<sup>109</sup> focuses on financial giving rather than social action. Members specify the cause that they are supporting, how much money is needed and when the campaign will end. The ChipIn widget is a Flash application that allows people to advertise on websites and/or blogs that they are seeking money for a cause through ChipIn and encouraging people to donate to the cause. An expert in how to create a successful person-to-person ChipIn campaign, nonprofit social media specialist Beth Kanter<sup>110</sup> has developed how-to screencasts that teach people how to use ChipIn and personal connections successfully to raise funds for specific causes.

SixDegrees, originally founded by actor Kevin Bacon and based on the popular "Six Degrees of Kevin Bacon" game, was one of the first advocacy sites to focus on the smallworld theory that if each person prompted everyone that they knew to support a cause, true progress could be made. SixDegrees recently experienced a rebirth when it partnered with third-party online donation site, NetworkforGood.<sup>111</sup> Karma411 ("connect with a cause"),<sup>112</sup> FirstGiving ("the simple and efficient way to raise money online for charity"), 113 Social Actions ("aggregating and inspiring social action")114 and TakinglTGlobal ("an online community that connects youth to find inspiration, access information, get involved, and take action in their local and global communities")115 all are examples of advocacy sites, each one prompting individuals to start charitable campaigns.

Again, none of the advocacy sites apparently focus on museums.

Beginning in 2007, Facebook started to feature the "Cause App,"<sup>116</sup> an application that allows Facebook members to display on their profiles causes that they support, donate online and encourage others to support those causes. Larger museums, such as the Brooklyn Museum and the Smithsonian, have enjoyed some success and positive exposure using this approach.

A few years ago, people commonly forwarded emails to their friends that encouraged clicking on the Breast Cancer Awareness site once a day to help raise funds for the cause. The idea behind that email, the click-to-give site, has developed into three variants: the search-to-give site, the shop-to-give site and the original click-to-give site. In the summer of 2007, a relatively new click-to-give site, FreeRice, 117 took the Internet by storm, with results that have been very pleasing to its recipient organization, the United Nations World Food Program. All three approaches generate money through the sale of advertising space.

GoodSearch<sup>118</sup> allows visitors to "give to charity just by searching the Internet" using the Yahoo search engine. FreePledge's tagline is, "Every consumer is a philanthropist; every purchase creates a donation."<sup>119</sup> Shopformuseums, <sup>120</sup> like FreePledge, is a shop-to-give site, but it specifically focuses on museums rather than all nonprofits. iGive<sup>121</sup> is another popular shop-to-give site, however, some philanthropy experts have questioned it because anyone can establish a "cause" that will benefit from shopping proceeds; iGive does not require causes to maintain verifiable 501(c)(3) status.

ChangingThePresent differs slightly from other shop-to-give sites by "selling" charitable donations. For example, a \$15 Stop Global Warming present will eliminate 6000 pounds of carbon dioxide emissions, 122 or a \$120 Empower a Girl gift will enroll a young girl in a community empowerment program for 30 months. 123

BiddingforGood focuses on auction items offered by non-profits. <sup>124</sup> Similarly, eBay's Missionfish offers bidding-type shopping that benefits nonprofits. <sup>125</sup> Still another variation comes from the popular online market for handmade crafts, Etsy. <sup>126</sup> One Etsy "shop" dedicates all proceeds to charity, with a new beneficiary selected each month.

Shop-to-give websites can be viewed as a product of the "embedded giving"—the "practice of building a philanthropic gift into another, unrelated, financial transaction"<sup>127</sup>—trend that is presently very popular in the greater philanthropic world. The appeal of embedded

giving is that it allows everyday consumers to contribute easily to charities without having to go through the additional steps of finding a recipient organization and physically making the donation; all details are dictated by the product or service attached to the donation. Examples include Newman's Own products from which all of the profits after taxes are donated to educational and charitable purposes, 128 and the credit card and telephone services offered by Working Assets 129 that automatically donate a portion of each bill to charities selected by patrons. Good Magazine's annual subscription offer 130 in which the entire subscription cost of is donated to a selected nonprofit or retail programs such as the Gap's Product(Red) campaign<sup>131</sup> are further examples. Some of the newer corporate programs have fallen under scrutiny 132 133 134 135 136 and soon may be regulated through legislation<sup>137</sup> following the lack of transparency demonstrated by certain retailers, most notably Barney's New York that had not informed intended beneficiaries that Barney's was using their names to promote sales. 138

Microfinance is a contested form of philanthropy that focuses primarily on the use of small-scale loans to aid individuals in developing nations to alleviate debt, start businesses and become self-sufficient entrepreneurs. The primary point of contention is that microfinance has been used exclusively outside the United States and has not been used to reduce domestic poverty. <sup>139</sup> Also, it is still unclear whether or not those benefiting from microfinance are actually becoming successful or whether they are simply becoming slightly less poor than they were before. <sup>140</sup>

Nonetheless, Kiva.org (letting you "lend to a specific entrepreneur in the developing world--empowering them to left themselves out of poverty")<sup>141</sup> has been praised for its work and had generated over \$11 million by 2007, just two years after its launch.<sup>142</sup> Other microfinance groups include Microplace (an eBay company where "you can make investments that reach millions of hard-working poor people worldwide")<sup>143</sup> and the more established Grameen Bank founded by 2006 Nobel Peace Prize winner Muhammad Yunus.<sup>144</sup>

What differentiates microfinance from other forms of philanthropy is that there is an actual return on investment (ROI) for the donors; charitable contributions are loans rather than donations. This model can appeal to social entrepreneurs and venture capitalists who wish to support worthy causes but who want to see tangible evidence of the success of their investments. <sup>145</sup>

Microfinance matters to museums. While it is unlikely that a museum ever will receive a microfinance loan, microfi-

nance establishes two trends that will impact museums: the ROI demand from social entrepreneurs and the democratization of giving through smaller-increment donations. GivingTree is a micro-philanthropy site, rather than a micro-lending site, that believes "that small, everyday contributions to help others matter" and that "the next generation of philanthropists" is "you." 146

This democratization of giving is facilitated largely by current technologies that allow anyone to become a donor, afford donors the opportunity to learn about and to give to organizations, and to permit donors to participate in what they do, how they are operated and even how fundraising campaigns are conducted.

Unlike the Rockefellers, Carnegies and other early foundation founders who created entities that mirrored existing institutions, the structured philanthropic vehicles of the 21st century will create a tradition similar to the emerging Web 2.0 companies. Rather than concentrated pools of money which imitate existing institutional structures, the new philanthropists will be smaller, widely distributed agents of change who co-create the social sector that they support. 147

At the heart of the democratization of philanthropy is the premise that

... no one person or entity has all the answers and instead leads to a virtuous cycle of information feedback. The philanthropists of the 21st century will be smaller in size, but much larger in numbers than the philanthropists of the last century. 148

In fact, in today's philanthropic world, charitable support is even becoming popular among children. <sup>149</sup> This is an important trend for museums to notice, particularly as the primary audiences of many museums are school-aged children. As Bill Clinton has said on his e-philanthropy site, MyCommitment:

Anyone—regardless of age, income, education or where you live—can do something that has a lasting impact and makes a difference in the lives of others, both down the street and around the world.<sup>150</sup>

The popular media encourages and enables members of the general public to support causes. CNN Impact urges readers and viewers to "take action on the news you consume!" by using a CNN portal to donate to causes that are "some of the highest-rated charities by CharityNavigator.org" and "vetted by CNN journalists for credibility." This has raised some questions among philanthropy experts, including what will happen if journalists have to

act as philanthropy analysts, <sup>152</sup> but CNN Impact demonstrates the ubiquitous nature of both online giving and the democratization of philanthropy.

Through the Google Finance page, Internet search engine giant Google also has provided, possibly inadvertently, a nonprofit portal<sup>153</sup> that gives visitors access to a variety of financial and leadership information, as well as blog posts and discussions about nonprofits.<sup>154</sup> While only information about large nonprofits such as the Red Cross<sup>155</sup> or the Metropolitan Museum of Art<sup>156</sup> is currently available, Google is such a popular tool that museums should be aware of this new nonprofit portal.

How and When e-Philanthropy is Most Effective

While evidence supports that e-philanthropy is a successful tool in the greater nonprofit community, many museums currently struggle with the concept. It is possible, although unlikely, that there is some fundamental difference between museum supporters and other nonprofit donors that makes museum donors less likely to participate in online giving. However, it is more likely that the majority of museums simply have not figured out how to apply the technique.

For example, as of 2007, most museums have a website, even if it is just a one-page "brochure" featuring basic visitor information. Transforming this type of website into an effective e-philanthropy site requires far more time, effort and money than simply placing a "Donate Now" button on the homepage.

Research indicates two important things about online giving: it will not completely replace other forms of giving in the foreseeable future, and there is often very little overlap between those who give online and those who give by other means. These two facts are what make e-philanthropy an alternative form of revenue generation—it will not replace traditional capital or direct-mail campaigns, but it can supplement them.

This means that in order to have a successful e-philanthropy strategy, a museum must have constituents who are comfortable making online purchases. To a certain extent, this is another way in which involvement with social media can help: people who are familiar with the museum from a social networking site will be more comfortable giving to the museum online. This means that if a museum is established on a social networking site, there is a greater chance that its attempts at e-philanthropy will be successful.

Additionally, the American Heart Association found that

when it solicited input from donors regarding how to improve the AHA website for online donation purposes, the implemented changes increased online donations from 12% to 70%.

They started by analyzing their site's traffic statistics. Then they asked users what they wanted via an online survey. Finally, when they started to design improvements, they made sure it worked with Web usability testing...Discipline.They based what they did on donor behavior, not on somebody's opinion of what things ought to be like...Christian A. Caldwell, who oversaw the changes, said, "It had a lot to do with changing the perspective from our financial department wanting to know how much the donation is to 'What is it you're here to do? Who is it you're here to honor?' ... Everybody came with their own ideas about why donors were going away. Instead of getting into that argument about what the donors' intentions were, I said, 'Let's just take it right to the donors, and try to get them to tell us."...That's how you do good work in fundraising: Pay attention to donors. 157

However, the larger question remains: does online engagement lead to more money for nonprofits? Discussions throughout the nonprofit sector indicate mixed reactions; some reports indicate that active involvement with donors both online and through other media is required for best results. <sup>158</sup> Others state that while online engagement may lead to more online donations, it will not impact the overall number of donations or the total amount of money donated each year. <sup>159</sup> The Chronicle of Philanthropy, however, has reported increased online giving since 2003. <sup>160</sup> <sup>161</sup> In 2005, the Chronicle reported that

Fund-raising experts say that year-to-year percentage increases in online contributions that far outstrip gains in other types of fund raising have won over many of the lingering nay-sayers.

But then countered that statement with this:

To be sure, not everyone agrees on how important a source of revenue online fund raising will eventually become for charities. Internet contributions still account for a small percentage of charities' overall fund raising. Online gifts made up less than I percent of total revenue for 117 of the 141 charities that provided their 2004 fund-raising totals. 162

By the end of 2005, however, the Chronicle reported that approximately 20% of Internet users had made online donations.

A survey in October 2001 found that 10 percent of

Internet users, or about 11 million people, had made online donations to a charity. In January 2005, shortly after the South Asian tsunamis hit, that number rose to 13 percent, or 17 million Americans. The number of online donors has increased 53 percent since then, the new survey shows. <sup>163</sup>

In 2006, online giving reached a milestone when third-party online donation site NetworkforGood hit the \$100 million mark in its fifth full year of operation. <sup>164</sup> Nonetheless, in the second quarter of 2007 the Chronicle reported that despite continued growth, online giving was still in an "awkward adolescence."

Online giving represented less than I percent of total contributions for 103 of the 147 organizations that reported both the amount of money they raised online and their total contributions in 2006.

One of the main causes for this awkwardness seemed to be that fundraisers were still unsure how much time and effort to devote to online campaigns.

But figuring out exactly how much money to invest in online fund raising is tricky, says Vivianne Potter, a top fund raiser at Amnesty International USA, in New York.

"With direct mail, we all know the formula," says Ms. Potter. "You put this much money in, you get this many donors out."

Fund raisers even have a pretty good idea of how much money those mail donors will give over the course of their relationship with the charity. But with online fund raising, she says, everyone is still feeling their way. 165

This is an important point; perhaps one of the greatest things stopping museums from developing online giving programs is that fundraising staff members believe that they cannot accurately estimate the resources required to build and maintain a successful program.

# **Challenges and Opportunities**

In the face of nonprofit governance scandals, <sup>166</sup> <sup>167</sup> <sup>168</sup> the IRS has revamped the 990 Form <sup>169</sup> <sup>170</sup> used by nonprofits to report revenue. There has been a great deal of discussion about metrics for measuring the effectiveness and health of nonprofit organizations. <sup>171</sup> <sup>172</sup> In recent years, social entrepreneurs <sup>173</sup> have entered the world of philanthropy, <sup>174</sup> <sup>175</sup> seeking returns of their investments and prompting the concept of social stock exchanges. <sup>176</sup>

A few e-philanthropy sites have been designed with the needs and concerns of these social investors in mind, aiming to "achieve real impact" rather than just donate money. The Bolder Giving encourages social entrepreneurs to give away as much money as possible, Social Edge, a product of the Skoll Foundation, Serves as more of a social networking site that is "by social entrepreneurs, for social entrepreneurs, Social Markets prompts donors not just to donate but to "invest in the change you want to see," while Resource Generation focuses on teaching the next generation of major donors how to align their interests with their donations. While national economic conditions have always impacted nonprofits, other markets—such as the social capital market—have emerged to influence giving. Social investors in mind, aiming the next generation of major donors how to align their interests with their donations. Social capital market—have emerged to influence giving.

Larger numbers of philanthropic social entrepreneurs have amplified and redefined involvement with nonprofit organizations. Now, it is not enough for some donors only to give money; they want to feel that they have an intimate understanding of the organizations they support and that they are directly responsible for impacting those organizations. Jeff Gray, director of business and community affairs, City of Refuge (Atlanta) feels that this trend of "deeper involvement" could mean that "donors will give in a more focused way and won't spread their support around among many organizations." 185

The desire to understand how nonprofits work will benefit from the trend towards transparency in which organizations clearly state, "Here's what we're doing and why and what it amounts to." <sup>186</sup>

As foundations begin to examine themselves, <sup>187</sup> philanthropy experts highlight stagnating governance and program policies. <sup>188</sup> Prize-based philanthropic awards have served to encourage innovation, ingenuity and progress within certain causes, particularly in science, medicine and technology. <sup>190</sup> <sup>191</sup> <sup>192</sup> <sup>193</sup> <sup>194</sup>

Fundraisers and philanthropists continue to debate questions of scale: Is it preferable to have many small donors or one major donor?<sup>195</sup> What are the pros and cons of microfinance.<sup>196</sup> <sup>197</sup> <sup>198</sup> <sup>199</sup> <sup>200</sup> Perhaps the only conclusion is that "giving takes many paths."<sup>201</sup>

What does this mean for museums and their potential to generate revenue? Transparency, such as that displayed by the Indianapolis Museum of Art online dashboard, will serve as an indicator of success as well as reassure the public that they understand how museums function and what museums actually provide. Increased participation from community members through social media or through collaborative programming can strengthen relationships with stakeholders. A re-examination of venture philanthropy for museums<sup>202</sup> 203 may indicate that venture philanthropists are interested in museums and that museums are in a position to benefit greatly from such investment. Participation in both social media and e-philanthropy will be necessary to demonstrate to the public and to funders that museums are relevant in a quickly changing world.

Fortunately, there are ample resources and funding sources to help museums to prepare for major institutional change. The Institute for Museum and Library Services supports many digital initiatives, 204 as does the MacArthur Foundation. 205 NetSquared 206 and the Nonprofit Technology Network<sup>207</sup> both offer free articles and other resources to nonprofits exploring social media and other Internet technologies. Third-party online donation site Network for Good now offers a resource site to help "overworked fundraisers." 208 Additionally, the fact that philanthropy has entered the realm of social media could mean that the youth of today are being primed for a lifetime of social action and giving. The presence of a cause-based philanthropic application on Facebook, the advent of websites such as Changents and MTV's causebased social networking site, Think MTV, 209 210 coupled with the fact that millennials are proving to be sociallyaware and civic-minded, 211 212 213 means that engagement in social media will help to secure museums in the minds of next-generation donors and philanthropists.

Despite the radical shifts and changes in earned income and fundraising in the nonprofit sector, the opportunities for museums far outweigh the challenges and threats.

The future of museum revenues seems to rest in innovation, community involvement, creative partnering and online opportunities.

#### Recommendations

The challenges and opportunities presented by current philanthropic markets, coupled with the trends identified in the Orinda Group Revenue Generation Survey, point to possible strategies that museums can employ to increase and stabilize sustainable revenue streams. While not all strategies will work for every museum, the results of the Orinda Group survey and literature review suggest that the following programs and activities could increase museum annual revenue.

# Engage in Social Media

Museums should offer social media on organizational websites and engage in third party social media and social networking activities in order to maximize audience engagement and cultivate new audiences. Maintaining a museum blog—either on the museum website, through a free blogging host such as Blogspot or via the blog function on MySpace—is an effective way to keep stakeholders abreast of museum events through an informal channel. Creating a Flickr pool for museum visitors to share photos with the museum (and each other) can effectively generate feelings of ownership and involvement. Active membership on MySpace allows people who might not know about the museum to learn about it and to become a museum supporter. Participation as a "Cause" on FaceBook allows friends of the museum to make contributions and encourage others to do the same through the FaceBook platform. Providing downloadable podcasts, cell phone tours and videos about the museum and its programs increases visibility and accessibility.

# Enable Online Retail, Admissions, Giving and Membership Opportunities through the Museum Website

Amazon.com and similar retailers permanently have changed the way the world engages in commerce. Similarly, increased online banking capacities continue to alter financial procedures. With an increasing number of people preferring the ease and convenience of online financial transactions, museums risk losing potential revenue if they ignore these trends. For larger museums with dedicated, professional IT staff, creating an e-commerce- and e-philanthropy-enabled museum website may be a possibility. For smaller museums without IT staff, third-party e-philanthropy software companies such as Convio and eTapestry offer good alternatives.

# Participate on E-philanthropy Websites

Currently, the most effective and important e-philanthropy websites for museums are third-party donation and shop-to-give sites. By participating on NetworkforGood, museums access a wide range of philanthropic individuals. Joining shopformuseums.com will mean that museum visitors can support a museum while shopping online. In order to reap the greatest benefits, museums should advertise on the homepage that the museum participates on these sites and provide direct links for visitors.

#### Don't Abandon Direct Mail

Direct mail is not dead. The availability of online giving means that donors and members now have options regarding how they want to be contacted by museums—but they may still prefer direct mail campaigns to email campaigns. In order to maximize results, museums should employ both approaches.

# Consolidate, Professionalize and Streamline Business Units

Establishing a single business department to oversee all business and commercial enterprises can help to reduce costs and increase revenues through greater efficiency. Museums should encourage communication between business and curatorial departments to identify effective retail tie-ins to upcoming exhibits and staff research. Museums administrators should include business department representatives in senior staff meetings, helping to promote the museum's mission while generating revenue.

# **Explore New Retail Opportunities**

A successful retail program links products to the museum mission and collection. Merchandise licensing, rights and reproductions, on-demand printing of images from the collections, coffee table books based on the collections and downloadable assets such as cell phone wallpaper based on museum images are all viable methods for connecting retail success to the museum's holdings. Multiples and limited edition works by artists are another possible way to transform the mission of a museum into retail success. Museums should position the museum store as a gift-giving resource with special holiday shopping events. Non-collections art rental and sales also can be a cost-effective way for museums to generate income while still following their missions.

# Pursue Creative Strategic Partnerships

Museums can partner with local organizations or museums with complimentary missions to increase visibility and share collaborative programming costs. Museums might join with corporations to produce traveling exhibitions, books, DVDs, games and other revenue-generating products.

Devise Targeted "Creative" Fundraisers that are Unique to the Institution, Community, Audience and/or Program

Many museums hold "Adopt-A-(\_\_\_\_\_)" and "Buy-A-(\_\_\_\_\_)" fundraisers, but often enjoy limited success because their events are too generic. When developing a new fundraising idea, museums should think about target communities: What are the concerns and needs of the community? How will the museum use the proceeds? How will the funds ultimately meet the needs and interests of the community? What could surprise people, catch them off-guard or make them laugh? The more the museum can unite the fundraising activity, the mission and the community, the greater the potential success.

# Restructure Museum Support

Government-operated museums may have budget constraints that relate directly to the fiscal concerns of the governing agency. In some cases, museums can establish a separate nonprofit foundation as a fundraising agency. In other governance situations, "friends" groups can help the museum to raise general operating funds or money for specific collections or programs. A friends group can serve as a specialized membership category, while museum foundations serve as separate entities that support the museum.

#### Consider Unrelated Businesses

Although owning or leasing property to an unrelated business could result in an unrelated business tax, the resulting revenue can more than compensate for it. Museums should investigate state charitable gaming laws to determine if the museum is eligible to benefit from a bingo hall, keno game or other charitable gaming franchise. An unrelated business can benefit a museum foundation or friends group even if the museum additional incurs.

# Step up to the Auction Block

Museums can generate substantial revenue via auctions in two ways. The first is to accept donations specifically to sell at auction. The second way is by deaccessioning items from the collections. When accepting donations for auction, museums may sell items through an auction house such as Christie's, Bonhams or Sotheby's, or the museum may hold a gala auction event where members and patrons may bid directly to raise money for the museum. Museums must retain the services of an auction house to handle the sale of collections objects; resulting revenue may only be used to purchase new acquisitions or care for existing collections. Museums should exercise caution when deaccessioning as the practice is watched carefully and regulated by the American Association of Museums and museums may be subject to sanctions if the process is handled incorrectly.

# Host Traveling Exhibitions

Traveling exhibitions come in all shapes and sizes. "Block-buster" exhibitions tend to generate maximum revenue for a museum, but even smaller traveling exhibitions can save costs and provide fresh content. Likewise, larger museums may consider building and renting out traveling exhibitions as a source of revenue.

# Open up the Museum to After Hours Exploration

Although behind-the-scenes and "open house" events tend to be cost ineffective, hosting museum sleepovers can generate positive cash flow, especially since the release of the popular movie *Night at the Museum* starring Ben Stiller. These events can be geared towards children, Valentine's Day or New Year's Eve. Renting space for private events can generate even more revenue for museums. Although staff may be required to be on hand to ensure collection safety, private event rental continues to be a cost-effective method for generating significant income.

Diversify Revenue Generation and Fundraising Strategies

Depending on a single strategy can lead museums to financial instability. Like personal financial portfolios, diversity is the key to sustainable long-term stability for museum revenue streams. Administrators should explore online and offline options that focus on museum programs or external factors. Museums should develop new ideas and thoroughly examine old ideas that no longer seem to work to see if they can be repurposed. In membership and fundraising, recognize small givers as well as big givers. Ensure that financial support is flowing into the museum from enough sources so that if one suddenly dries up, the museum won't flounder. Through a combination of some of the strategies listed above, any museum should be able to find some successful alternatives that generate revenue.

# Glossary

#### Blog

Blog is short for "web-log" and is essentially an online forum for an individual or a group to post relatively short items of information or opinion for sharing with a larger group or the general public. While serving as a type of online journal or diary, one of the most popular elements of a blog is the comments function, which allows readers to post their own thoughts and opinions on the subject matter discussed in the original post. In this manner, readers unconnected to one another can create a dialogue with one another through the blog. Blogging is a form of social media.

#### Democratization

Democratization as it applies to nonprofits refers to the act of changing the methods of a particular organization or the sector as a whole in such a way as to better represent, appeal to or benefit the public at large. In particular, it refers to the opening up of information or processes previously closed to the general public, such as participation in exhibitions, the ability to serve as donors or philanthropists or the ability to make informed decisions about philanthropy. Movements such as microphilanthropy, the push for better and more transparent analysis and evaluation of nonprofits and the adoption of social media by nonprofits can all be seen as methods of democratization.

# Embedded giving

Embedded giving at its most basic level is the incorporation of a philanthropic donation to some other form of financial transaction.

#### e-Philanthropy

e-Philanthropy is the practice of online giving; that is, of making charitable contributions to a nonprofit organization via electronic means on the Internet. e-Philanthropy may happen directly on the nonprofit organization's website or through a third-party donation site.

#### Evaluation

In the context of this paper, when we speak of evaluation we are not referring to exhibition evaluation but rather to the assessment of the effectiveness of the nonprofit organization as a whole. At the moment, this is primarily achieved by looking at financial information provided by the organization itself on an IRS Form 990. From this form, the ratio of overhead costs to program costs can be calculated. Typically, when this method of evaluation is used, an organization that spends a relatively high amount on overhead compared with programs will be rated lower than an organization whose ratio is in favor of programs. This method of evaluation is currently being challenged by members of the philanthropy community, but no other definitive evaluation tools have been vetted yet by the sector as a whole.

#### Metrics

Metrics are the measuring sticks by which the health and effectiveness of nonprofits are evaluated. While the best form and use of metrics is a hotly debated topic in the philanthropic sphere, the most commonly used form of metrics right now is the ratio of overhead costs to program costs.

#### Millennials

Although demographic experts differ on the starting date for the "millennial" generation, the typical definition includes anyone born between 1980 and 2000. Millenials also are sometimes referred to as "Generation Y."

#### Social media

Social media is any Internet-based technology whose aim is to create a multi-directional exchange of information. Examples of social media include video- and photo-sharing sites, social networking and meeting sites, blogs and even news sites if they incorporate feedback mechanisms or methods of evaluating articles.

### **Tagging**

A "tag" is a keyword that is assigned to an article, blog post, photograph, video or other online media. The purpose of the tag is to help others quickly and easily identify and share the content of the tagged item. The author of the tagged item accomplishes tagging primarily, but in social tagging other viewers may also add or create tags for items.

# **Transparency**

Transparency as it pertains to this paper specifically refers to the sharing of private information about an organization or a person in order to promote openness and to achieve accountability. For example, the sharing of financial data regarding the programs of a nonprofit is a form of transparency. Likewise, the disclosure of affiliations or possible conflicts of interest when endorsing an organization is a form of transparency.

#### **Endnotes**

- <sup>1</sup> National Center for Charitable Statistics. The Nonprofit Sector in Brief: Facts and Figures from the Nonprofit Almanac 2007. Urban Institute Press, 2007. http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/311373\_nonprofit\_sector.pdf
- <sup>2</sup> The complete survey and responses can be found online here: http://orindagroup.com/OGBlog/Museum\_Revenue\_Generation\_Survey.pdf
- <sup>3</sup> James Austin. "The E-Philanthropy Revolution is Here to Stay." Chronicle of Philanthropy. March 8, 2001. http://www.philanthropy.com/premium/articles/v13/i10/10007201.htm
- <sup>4</sup> Making Conversation with Museums. "Tate on Flickr." May 21, 2007. http://makingconversation.wordpress.com/2007/05/21/tate-on-flickr/
  - <sup>5</sup> http://www.facebook.com/apps/application.php?id=2318966938
  - 6 http://www.project-agape.com/
  - <sup>7</sup> http://www.linkedin.com/static?key=groups giving
- <sup>8</sup> About Micro-Philanthropy. Peter Dietz. "Facebook, LinkedIn Transforming the Practice of Person-to-Person Fundraising." June 13, 2007. http://www.socialactions.com/facebook-causes-and-linkedin
- <sup>9</sup> Washington Grantmakers Daily. "Social Networking Meets Nonprofit Fundraising/Friendraising." http://giving.wordpress.com/2007/05/04/social-networking-meets-nonprofit/
- <sup>10</sup> Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "Facebook-ing Philanthropy." http://philanthropy.blogspot.com/2007/10/facebook-ing-philanthropy.html
  - <sup>11</sup> Trendwatching.com. "8 Important Consumer Trends for 2008." http://www.trendwatching.com/trends/8trends2008.htm
  - <sup>12</sup> PledgeBank's motto is, "I'll do it, but only if you'll help!" http://www.pledgebank.com/
  - 13 http://www.parade.com/givingchallenge
  - 14 http://eventful.com/
  - 15 http://www.party4apurpose.com/
- <sup>16</sup> Valerie Troyansky. "Print on Demand: An Evolving Partnership." Unpublished paper presented at Heritage Development International's Earned Income in Museums Seminar, New York, NY. June 6, 2007.
- <sup>17</sup> Rena Zurofsky. "Artist's Editions for Retail: Panel Discussion." Unpublished paper presented at Heritage Development International's Earned Income in Museums Seminar, New York, NY. June 6, 2007.
- <sup>18</sup> Robert Tofolo. "Artist's Editions for Retail: Panel Discussion." Unpublished paper presented at Heritage Development International's Earned Income in Museums Seminar, New York, NY. June 6, 2007.
- <sup>19</sup> Jennifer Heslin. "Artist's Editions for Retail: Panel Discussion." Unpublished paper presented at Heritage Development International's Earned Income in Museums Seminar, New York, NY. June 6, 2007.
- <sup>20</sup> Louise Emerson. "From Carbon to Diamonds: The Metamorphosis of a Commercial Strategy at London's Natural History Museum." Unpublished paper presented at Heritage Development International's Earned Income in Museums Seminar, New York, NY. June 6, 2007.
- <sup>21</sup> Chris Campbell. "Finding Bacchus: Wine as a Source of Income from Futures Trading to Corporate Gifts." Unpublished paper presented at Heritage Development International's Earned Income in Museums Seminar, New York, NY. June 6, 2007.
  - <sup>22</sup> http://mnzoo.wolfquest.org/
  - <sup>23</sup> http://www.mnzoo.org/education/games/matchmaker/index.html
  - <sup>24</sup> http://www.mnzoo.com/education/TICadventures/index.asp
- <sup>25</sup> Denver Museum of Nature and Science. "SCFD & the Museum." http://www.dmns.org/main/en/General/AboutTheMuseum/SCFD/
- <sup>26</sup> Crested Butte Land Trust | US EPA. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. "You're your Watershed: Crested Butte Land Trust." http://yosemite.epa.gov/water/surfnote.nsf/11ef47e42e2177af85256392006c244e/823f400e74a5a7e5852568380066bece!OpenDocument&Click=
- <sup>27</sup> Glo Cunningham. Unpublished paper presented at the Mountain-Plains Museums Association, Fargo, ND. September 12, 2007.
- <sup>28</sup> Stephanie Turnham. "Bingo!" Unpublished paper presented at the Mountain-Plains Museums Association, Fargo, ND. September 12, 2007.
  - <sup>29</sup> "State Charitable Gaming Laws." http://www.gambling-law-us.com/Charitable-Gaming/
- <sup>30</sup> Fundraising Success. Karen Taggart. "The Great Debate: Direct Mail vs. Online Acquisition." July 17, 2007. http://www.fundraisingsuccessmag.com/story/s
- <sup>31</sup> Donor Power Blog. Jeff Brooks. "Direct Mail vs. Online Fundraising." July 30, 2007. http://www.donorpowerblog.com/donor\_power\_blog/2007/07/direct-mail-vs-.html
- <sup>32</sup> David Driscoll. "The Big Bucks Theory: Expanding Your Universe of Sponsors and Revenue Streams without Begging." Unpublished paper presented at Heritage Development International's Earned Income in Museums Seminar, New York, NY, June 6, 2007.

- <sup>33</sup> NTEN: The Nonprofit Technology Network. "Does Online Engagement Lead to More Money?" June 8, 2007. http://www.nten.org/blog/2007/06/08/does-online-engagement-lead-to-more-money
  - 34 http://www.bitmove.nl/
- <sup>35</sup> Klaas van der Veer. "Video Mail at the Rijksmuseum and the Van Gogh Museum." Unpublished paper presented at Heritage Development International's Earned Income in Museums Seminar, New York, NY. June 6, 2007.
  - <sup>36</sup> http://www.brooklynmuseum.org/community/blogosphere/bloggers/
  - <sup>37</sup> http://www.myspace.com/brooklynmuseum
- <sup>38</sup> Nicole Caruth and Shelley Bernstein. "Building an On-line Community at the Brooklyn Museum: A Timeline." In J. Trant and D. Bearman (eds). Museums and the Web 2007: Proceedings. Toronto: Archives & Museum Informatics, published March 31, 2007 http://www.archimuse.com/mw2007/papers/caruth/caruth.html
  - <sup>39</sup> http://www.youtube.com/itsmyart
  - 40 http://dashboard.imamuseum.org/
- <sup>41</sup> Donor Power Blog. Jeff Brooks. "Museum Opens the Books to Anyone Who Cares." December 3, 2007. http://www.donorpowerblog.com/donor\_power\_blog/2007/12/museum-opens-th.html
- <sup>42</sup> Spotlight on Digital Media and Learning. Jen Humke. "Emerging Details for June 22nd Event." Tuesday June 12, 2007. http://spotlight.macfound.org/main/entry/juneevent/
- <sup>43</sup> Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "Virtual (real?) platforms for good." Friday June 22, 2007. http://philanthropy.blogspot. com/2007/06/virtual-real-platforms-for-good.html
- <sup>44</sup> Net Squared a Project of Tech Soup. Britt Bravo. "Nonprofits Celebrate New Home in Second Life: Nonprofit Commons Grand Opening Gala Event on August 14th 2007." July 23, 2007. http://www.netsquared.org/blog/britt-bravo/nonprofits-celebrate-new-home-second-life-nonprofit-commons-grand-opening-gala-event-august-14th-2007
- <sup>45</sup> Richard Urban et. al. "A Second Life for Your Museum: 3D Multi-User Virtual Environments and Museums." In J. Trant and D. Bearman (eds). Museums and the Web 2007: Proceedings. Toronto: Archives & Museum Informatics, published March 31, 2007 http://www.archimuse.com/mw2007/papers/urban/urban.html
- <sup>46</sup> Joel Garreau. "Is There a Future for Old-Fashioned Museums?" Washington Post. Sunday, October 7, 2007; Page R10. http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2007/10/05/AR2007100500150\_pf.html
  - 47 http://thetechvirtual.org/
- <sup>48</sup> Net Squared a Project of Tech Soup. Britt Bravo. "Net2ThinkTank: What is the Return on Investment of the Social Web for Nonprofits?" October 11, 2007. http://www.netsquared.org/blog/britt-bravo/net2thinktank-what-return-investment-social-web-non-profits
  - 49 http://www.frogloop.com/social-network-calculator
- <sup>50</sup> Net Squared a Project of Tech Soup. Dan McQuillan. "ROI of the Social Web: Metrics, Paradigm Shift and the New Enclosures." October 8, 2007. http://www.netsquared.org/blog/dan-mcquillan/roi-social-web-metrics-paradigm-shift-and-new-enclosures
- <sup>51</sup> Wharman. "What is the Return on Investment of the Social Web for Nonprofits?" October 9, 2007. http://wharman. org/?p=36
- <sup>52</sup> Wharman. "What is the Return on Investment of the Social Web for Nonprofits?" October 9, 2007. http://wharman. org/?p=36
- <sup>53</sup> Small Dots. Beth Dunn. "The Only ROI is the ROI of Ice Cream." October 6, 2007. http://smalldots.wordpress. com/2007/10/06/the-only-roi-is-the-roi-of-ice-cream/
- <sup>54</sup> Museum 2.0. Nina Simon. "2.0 Culture Wars: Luddites and 2.0topians." November 1, 2007. http://museumtwo.blogspot.com/2007/11/20-culture-wars-luddites-and-20topians.html
- <sup>55</sup> Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "Transparency is the New Black." June 26, 2007. http://philanthropy.blogspot. com/2007/06/transparency-is-new-black.html
- $^{56}$  Donor Power Blog. Jeff Brooks. "Be Open, or Else!" December 20, 2007. http://www.donorpowerblog.com/donor\_power\_blog/2007/12/be-open-or-else.html
- <sup>57</sup> Museum Blogging. Leslie Madsen-Brooks. "Precolations: Museums and Social Networking Sites." July 6, 2007. http://www.museumblogging.com/2007/07/percolations-museums-and-social.html
- <sup>58</sup> Museum Blogging. Leslie Madsen-Brooks. "Precolations: Museums and Social Networking Sites." July 6, 2007. http://www.museumblogging.com/2007/07/percolations-museums-and-social.html
- <sup>59</sup> Museum Blogging. Leslie Madsen-Brooks. "Precolations: Museums and Social Networking Sites, Part IV." July 8, 2007. http://www.museumblogging.com/2007/07/percolations-museums-and-social\_08.html
- <sup>60</sup> Museum Blogging. Leslie Madsen-Brooks. "Precolations: Museums and Social Networking Sites, Part II." July 7, 2007. http://www.museumblogging.com/2007/07/percolations-museums-and-social 07.html
  - 61 http://twitter.com/
- <sup>62</sup> Museum Blogging. Leslie Madsen-Brooks. "Percolations: Museums and Social Networking Sites, Part V." July 8, 2007. http://www.museumblogging.com/2007/07/percolations-museums-and-social\_9427.html
  - 63 Museum 2.0. Nina Simon. "What is Twitter, Really? And Can It Do Anything For Museums?" April 16, 2007. http://museum-

two.blogspot.com/2007/04/what-is-twitter-really-and-can-it-do.html

- <sup>64</sup> Museum Blogging. Leslie Madsen-Brooks. "Percolations: Museums and Social Networking Sites, Part IV." July 8, 2007. http://www.museumblogging.com/2007/07/percolations-museums-and-social\_08.html
- <sup>65</sup> Museum Blogging. Leslie Madsen-Brooks. "Percolations: Museums and Social Networking Sites, Part III." July 7, 2007. http://www.museumblogging.com/2007/07/percolations-museums-and-social 5674.html
- <sup>66</sup> Museum 2.0. Nina Simon. "2.0 at Work: Why You Should Use Flickr." February 7, 2007. http://museumtwo.blogspot.com/2007/02/20-at-work-why-you-should-use-flickr.html
  - 67 http://earth.google.com/outreach/index.html
- <sup>68</sup> Beth Kanter and Rebecca Krause-Hardie. "Mixing Social Media Tools with Marketing Communications for Arts Organizations." 2007. http://beth.typepad.com/beths\_blog/files/MixingSocialFinal.pdf
- <sup>69</sup> University of Massachusetts Dartmouth—Center for Marketing Research. Nora Barnes, PhD and Eric Mattson. "Blogging for the Hearts of Donors." 2007. http://www.umassd.edu/cmr/studies/blogstudy4.cfm
- <sup>70</sup> Net Squared a Project of Tech Soup. Britt Bravo. "Online Video Most Utilized Social Web Tool By Forbes 200 Largest US Nonprofits." November 28, 2007. http://www.netsquared.org/blog/britt-bravo/online-video-most-utilized-social-web-tool-forbes-200-largest-nonprofits
- <sup>71</sup> Computerworld. Heather Havenstein. "Study: Charities use social media more than businesses." November 28, 2007. http://www.computerworld.com/action/article.do?command=viewArticleBasic&articleId=9049679&intsrc=news\_ts\_head
- <sup>72</sup> Read Write Web. Marshall Kirkpatrick. "More for Good than for Profit: Report Says US Charities Now Leading Corporations in Social Media Adoption." November 28, 2007. http://www.readwriteweb.com/archives/more\_for\_good\_than\_for\_profit.php
- <sup>73</sup> Compiled by Debra E. Blum, Brennen Jensen, Nicole Lewis, Marty Michaels, Peter Panepento, Caroline Preston, Nicole Wallace, and Ian Wilhelm. "Nonprofit Leaders and Experts Offer Their Predictions for 2008." Chronicle of Philanthropy. December 31, 2007. http://philanthropy.com/news/updates/index.php?id=3667
- <sup>74</sup> California Association of Museums. "The 2006 California Museums Survey: A Statistical Report and Salary Survey of California Museums." 2006. pp. 20-25. http://www.calmuseums.org/e-news/index.html
- <sup>75</sup> Don't Tell the Donor.org. "MacArthur Foundation Enters Second Life." Saturday June 23, 2007. http://donttellthedonor. blogspot.com/2007/06/macarthur-foundation-enters-second-life.html
- <sup>76</sup> Institute of Museum and Library Services. Press release: "The Institute of Museum and Library Services and the National Endowment for the Humanities Award First Advancing Knowledge: The IMLS/NEH Digital Partnership Grants." September 17, 2007. http://www.imls.gov/news/2007/091707.shtm
- <sup>77</sup> Fundraising for Nonprofits. Gayle Roberts. "The end of fundraising (as you know it) and the future of philanthropy." Monday March 5, 2007. http://www.gayleroberts.com/blog/2007/03/end-of-fundraising-as-we-know-it-and.html
  - 78 http://www.networkforgood.org/
  - <sup>79</sup> http://www.etapestry.com/
  - 80 http://www.charityfinders.com/
- <sup>81</sup> Affinity Resources. "Online Donation Engine Providers Service Comparison Table Page Two." 2007. http://www.affinityresources.com/pgs/awz55Online3.shtml
  - 82 http://www.convio.com/site/PageServer
- <sup>83</sup> Don't Tell the Donor.org. "Convio confirms security attack email." Sunday November 4, 2007. http://donttellthedonor.blogspot.com/2007/11/convio-confirms-security-attack-email.html
- <sup>84</sup> Stephanie Strom. "Hackers Cracked Charities' Addresses and Passwords." New York Times. November 27, 2007. http://www.nytimes.com/2007/11/27/us/27charity.html
  - 85 http://www.charitynavigator.org/
- <sup>86</sup> Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "A sector-wide logic lapse (collapse)?" Wednesday November 21, 2007. http://philanthropy.blogspot.com/2007/11/sector-wide-logic-lapse-collapse.html
  - <sup>87</sup> http://www.givewell.net/
  - 88 http://www.guidestar.org/
  - 89 http://greatnonprofits.org/
  - 90 Give.org. "National Charity Reports Index." 2007. http://www.give.org/reports/index.asp
  - <sup>91</sup> American Institute of Philanthropy. "Top Rated Charities." 2007. http://www.charitywatch.org/toprated.html
  - 92 JustGive.org, "The Just Give Guide." 2007. http://www.justgive.org/guide/index.jsp
  - 93 http://www.helpalot.org/en/
  - 94 http://www.donorschoose.org/
  - 95 http://icare.ieor.berkeley.edu/
- <sup>96</sup> PhilanthroMedia. Caroline Heine. "Satisfaction-Guaranteed Giving." December 3, 2007. http://www.philanthromedia.org/archives/2007/12/satisfactionguaranteed\_giving\_I.html
  - 97 http://www.globalgiving.com/guaranteed/

- <sup>98</sup> Donor Power Blog. Jeff Brooks. "Fundraising takes one more step into the 20th century." December 5, 2007. http://www.donorpowerblog.com/donor\_power\_blog/2007/12/fundraising-tak.html
  - 99 http://www.change.org/
- Net Squared a Project of Tech Soup. Britt Bravo. "Social Networking + Online Giving = Change.org and Network for Good Collaboration." December 17, 2007. http://www.netsquared.org/blog/britt-bravo/social-networking-online-giving-change-org-and-network-good-collaboration
  - 101 http://dev.grantsfire.org/
  - 102 http://www.dosomething.org/
  - 103 http://www.wiserearth.org/
  - 104 http://www.bringlight.com/
  - 105 http://www.museumfunder.com/
- <sup>106</sup> Katya Andresen and Stacie Mann. "The Wired Fundraiser." Online publication published by NetworkforGood. October 2007. http://www.fundraising123.org/NFG/The Wired Fundraiser.pdf
  - 107 http://www.care2.com/
  - 108 http://www.changents.com/
  - 109 http://www.chipin.com/
  - 110 http://beth.typepad.com/
  - 111 http://www.sixdegrees.org/
  - 112 http://www.411karma.com/
  - 113 http://www.firstgiving.com/
  - 114 http://www.socialactions.com/
  - 115 http://www.takingitglobal.org/
  - 116 http://www.facebook.com/apps/application.php?id=2318966938
  - 117 http://www.freerice.com/
  - 118 http://www.goodsearch.com/
  - 119 http://www.maatiam.com/Welcome.aspx
  - 120 http://www.shopformuseums.com/
  - 121 http://www.igive.com/
- $^{122}$  Changing the Present. "Stop Global Warming: Carbonfund.org." 2007. http://www.changingthepresent.org/welcome/gifts/show/170
  - <sup>123</sup> Changing the Present. "Empower a Girl: Tostan." 2007. http://www.changingthepresent.org/welcome/gifts/show/1225
  - 124 http://www.cmarket.com/biddingforgood/
  - 125 http://www.missionfish.org/
  - 126 http://www.etsy.com/shop.php?user id=5202146
- <sup>127</sup> Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "Buzzword #6—Embedded Giving." November 3, 2007. http://philanthropy.blogspot.com/2007/11/buzzword-6-embedded-giving.html
  - 128 http://www.newmansown.com/commongood.cfm
  - 129 http://www.workingassets.com/
  - 130 http://www.goodmagazine.com/subscribe/
  - 131 http://www.gapinc.com/red/
- <sup>132</sup> Editorial. "Buy a Sweater, Save a Seal." New York Times. December 22, 2007. http://www.nytimes.com/2007/12/22/opinion/22sat4.html
- <sup>133</sup> Dan Harris. "Promising Proceeds to Charity Brings in Business." ABC News. December 18, 2007. http://abcnews.go.com/WN/story?id=4022433&page=1
  - Beyond Philanthropy. "(Red) Gets a Beating." March 20, 2007. http://www.beyondphilanthropy.org/nc/red\_gets\_a\_beating/
- <sup>135</sup> Where Most Needed. "Where Bono Blunde(red)." March 20, 2007. http://www.wheremostneeded.org/2007/03/where\_bono\_blun.html
- <sup>136</sup> Trent Stamp's Take. Trent Stamp. "Product Red's New Campaign." October 23, 2007. http://www.trentstampstake. org/2007/10/product-reds-new-campaign.html
- <sup>137</sup> Senator Robert Menendez Newsroom. "Ensuring 'Embedded Giving' Actually Gets to Charities: Sen. Menendez to Introduce Legislation." December 14, 2007. http://menendez.senate.gov/newsroom/record.cfm?id=289042&
- <sup>138</sup> Stephanie Strom. "Charities Share from Shopping Raises Concern." New York Times. December 13, 2007. http://www.nytimes.com/2007/12/13/us/13giving.html
- <sup>139</sup> Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "Microlending. Good for them but not for us." December 7, 2006. http://philanthropy.blogspot.com/2006/12/microlending-good-for-them-but-not-for.html
  - 140 Stanford Social Innovation Review. Aneel Karnani. "Microfinance Misses its Mark." Summer 2007. http://www.ssireview.

- org/articles/entry/microfinance\_misses\_its\_mark/
  - 141 http://kiva.org/
- Read Write Web. Richard MacManus. "Non-Profits: Plenty of Web Resources, But How Much Success?" September 14, 2007. http://www.readwriteweb.com/archives/non-profits web resources success stories.php#more
  - 143 https://www.microplace.com/
  - 144 http://www.grameen-info.org/
- <sup>145</sup> Sonia Narang. "Web-Based Microfinancing." New York Times. December 10, 2006. http://www.nytimes.com/2006/12/10/magazine/10section4.t-6.html
  - 146 http://www.givingtreelife.com/
- <sup>147</sup> Tactical Philanthropy. Sean Stannard-Stockton. "Web 2.0 and Philanthropy." October 23, 2006, June 26, 2007. http://tacticalphilanthropy.com/2007/06/web-20-philanthropy-2
- <sup>148</sup> Tactical Philanthropy. Sean Stannard-Stockton. "The Second Great Wave." October 12, 2006, June 25, 2007. http://tactical-philanthropy.com/2007/06/the-second-great-wave-2
- <sup>149</sup> Philip Rucker. "For Modern Kids, 'Philanthropy' Is No Grown-up Word." Washington Post. Sunday, December 30, 2007; Page A01 . http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2007/12/29/AR2007122901848.html
  - 150 http://www2.mycommitment.org/
  - 151 http://www.cnn.com/SPECIALS/2007/impact/
- <sup>152</sup> Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "What kind(s) of IMPACT?" July 2, 2007. http://philanthropy.blogspot.com/2007/07/what-kinds-of-impact.html
- <sup>153</sup> Tactical Philanthropy. Sean Stannard-Stockton. "Google Launches Nonprofit Portal." December 14, 2007. http://tactical-philanthropy.com/2007/12/google-launches-nonprofit-portal
  - 154 http://finance.google.com/finance
  - 155 http://finance.google.com/finance?cid=9858371
  - 156 http://finance.google.com/finance?cid=6366839
- Donor Power Blog. Jeff Brooks. "Want online donations? Let donors lead web design." June 29, 2007. http://www.donor-power\_blog.com/donor\_power\_blog/2007/06/want-online-don.html
- NTEN: The Nonprofit Technology Network. "Does Online Engagement Lead to More Money?" June 8, 2007. http://www.nten.org/blog/2007/06/08/does-online-engagement-lead-to-more-money
- Gavin's Digital Diner. Gavin Clabaugh. "The Silver Plate." June 12, 2007. http://www.digitaldiner.org/2007/06/12/the-silver-plate/
- Nicole Wallace. "Online Donations Make Gains." Chronicle of Philanthropy. Vol. 15, issue 17, June 12, 2003. http://www.philanthropy.com/premium/articles/v15/i17/17002001.htm
- <sup>161</sup> Marni D. LaRose and Nicole Wallace. "Online Giving Rose at Many Big Charities." Chronicle of Philanthropy. Vol. 15, issue 17, June 12, 2003. http://www.philanthropy.com/premium/articles/v15/i17/17002301.htm
- <sup>162</sup> Nicole Wallace. "A Surge in Online Giving." Chronicle of Philanthropy. Vol. 17, issue 17, June 9, 2005. http://www.philanthropy.com/premium/articles/v17/17000701.htm
- <sup>163</sup> Suzanne Perry. "More People Are Giving Online, Poll Shows." Chronicle of Philanthropy. Vol. 18, issue 5, December 8, 2005. http://www.philanthropy.com/premium/articles/v18/i05/05002201.htm
- <sup>164</sup> Nicole Wallace. "Network for Good Hits \$100-Million Mark." Chronicle of Philanthropy. Vol. 19, issue 2, October 26, 2006. http://www.philanthropy.com/premium/articles/v19/i02/02006402.htm
- <sup>165</sup> Nicole Wallace. "Still Growing Strong." Chronicle of Philanthropy. Vol. 19, issue 17, June 14, 2007. http://www.philanthropy.com/premium/articles/v19/i17/17000701.htm
- less Jason Felch and Ralph Frammolino. "Investigators Secretly Mined Munitz's Records." The Los Angeles Times. September 2, 2006. http://www.latimes.com/news/local/la-me-getty2sep02,0,5379713.story?coll=la-home-local
  - <sup>167</sup> Jacqueline Trescott and James V. Grimaldi. "Smithsonian's Small Quits in Wake of Inquiry."
- Washington Post. March 27, 2007; Page A01. http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2007/03/26/AR2007032600643.
- <sup>168</sup> Stephanie Strom. "Red Cross Quietly Settles Case of a \$120,000 Theft." The New York Times. April 28, 2006. http://www.nytimes.com/2006/04/28/us/28cross.html
- <sup>169</sup> National Center for Charitable Statistics. "Form 990 Wiki." December 18, 2007. http://www.nccs2.org/wiki/index.php?title=Main\_Page
- <sup>170</sup> Joelle Seligson. "AAM: Serious Changes Needed for Form 990." AVISO vol 33 no 10. American Association of Museums. October 2007. http://newsmanager.com/partners.com/aama/issues/2007-10-01/7.html
- <sup>171</sup> Tactical Philanthropy. Sean Stannard-Stockton. "Charity Evaluation Debate." March 29, 2007. http://tacticalphilanthropy. com/2007/03/charity-evaluation-debate
- <sup>172</sup> Paul Brest. "In Defense of Strategic Philanthropy." Procedings of the American Philosophical Society. Vol 149, No. 2: 132-140. June 2005. http://www.aps-pub.com/proceedings/1492/490202.pdf

- <sup>173</sup> Xigi.net. Kevin Jones. "Defining Social Entrepreneurship." March 24, 2007. http://www.xigi.net/2007/03/24/defining-social-enterpreneurship.html
- Roger L. Martin and Sally Osberg. "Social Entrepreneurship: The Case for Definition." Stanford Social Innovation Review. Spring 2007. http://www.skollfoundation.org/media/skoll\_docs/2007SP\_feature\_martinosberg.pdf
- <sup>175</sup> Open Society Institute. Jonathan Peizer. "Venture Philanthropy in the Digital Age." December 15, 2000. http://www.soros. org/initiatives/information/articles publications/articles/venture 20001215
- <sup>176</sup> Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "Buzzword 7—Social stock exchanges." November 24, 2007. http://philanthropy.blogspot.com/2007/11/buzzword-7-social-stock-exchanges.html
  - 177 http://newdea.com/
  - 178 http://www.boldergiving.org/
  - 179 http://www.skollfoundation.org/aboutskoll/index.asp
  - 180 http://www.socialedge.org/
  - 181 http://www.socialmarkets.org/
  - 182 http://www.resourcegeneration.org/home.html
- <sup>183</sup> Rowena Young. "Market Virtues and Market Vices." Alliance Magazine. September 2006. http://www.alliancemagazine.org/free/html/sep06g.html
- <sup>184</sup> Harvard Business School: Working Knowledge. Anne Kavanagh. "Social Capital Markets: Creating Value in the Nonprofit World." February 22, 2000. http://hbswk.hbs.edu/item/1319.html
- <sup>185</sup> Compiled by Debra E. Blum, Brennen Jensen, Nicole Lewis, Marty Michaels, Peter Panepento, Caroline Preston, Nicole Wallace, and Ian Wilhelm. "Nonprofit Leaders and Experts Offer Their Predictions for 2008." Chronicle of Philanthropy. December 31, 2007. http://philanthropy.com/news/updates/index.php?id=3667
- <sup>186</sup> Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "Transparency is the new black." June 26, 2007. http://philanthropy.blogspot. com/2007/06/transparency-is-new-black.html
- <sup>187</sup> Panel on the Nonprofit Sector. "Principles for Good Governance and Ethical Practice: A Guide for Charities and Foundations." October 2007. http://www.nonprofitpanel.org/report/principles/Principles\_Guide.pdf
- <sup>188</sup> Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "Designing New Foundations." November 9, 2007. http://philanthropy.blogspot. com/2007/11/designing-new-foundations.html
- <sup>189</sup> Second Thoughts. "We Need a New Kind of Philanthropy." June 22, 2007. http://secondthoughts.typepad.com/second\_thoughts/2007/06/we-need-a-new-k.html
  - Philanthropy 2173. "Showing all posts with label 'prizes." 2007. http://philanthropy.blogspot.com/search/label/prizes
- Philanthropy 2173. Lucy Bernholz. "Need not be present to win..." June 25, 2007. http://philanthropy.blogspot.com/2007/06/need-not-be-present-to-win.html
  - 192 PBS: Enterprising Ideas. "Project Enterprise Contest." 2007. http://www.pbs.org/now/enterprisingideas/poll.html
  - 193 http://www.myspace.com/impactawards
  - 194 http://www.parade.com/givingchallenge
- Donor Power Blog. Jeff Brooks. "How many donors do you need?" January 2, 2008. http://www.donorpowerblog.com/donor\_power\_blog/2008/01/how-many-donors.html
- <sup>196</sup> Saritha Rai. "Tiny Loans Have Big Impact on Poor." New York Times. April 12, 2004. http://query.nytimes.com/gst/fullpage. html?res=9D04E0DC1138F931A25757C0A9629C8B63
- <sup>197</sup> Stanford Social Innovation Review. Aneel Karnani. "Microfinance Misses its Mark." Summer 2007. http://www.ssireview.org/articles/entry/microfinance misses its mark/
- <sup>198</sup> "Microfinance." The Economist. March 17, 2007, p 16. http://www.economist.com/opinion/displaystory.cfm?story\_id=E1\_RRVPSPO
- <sup>199</sup> Xigi.net.Tim Freundlich."Critics put trendy poverty lenders to the test..." April 4, 2007. http://www.xigi.net/2007/04/04/critics-put-trendy-poverty-lenders-to-the-test.html
  - <sup>200</sup> Claire Cain Miller. "Easy Money." Forbes. November 27, 2006. http://www.forbes.com/archive/forbes/2006/1127/134.html
- <sup>201</sup> Inside Philanthropy. Todd Cohen. "Nonprofits Must Tap Philanthropy's Diversity." December 10, 2007. http://philanthropy-journal.blogspot.com/2007/12/nonprofits-must-tap-philanthropys.html
- <sup>202</sup> Rachel Orlins-Bergman. "Helping Art Museums Get on the Venture Philanthropy Boat." http://www.qm2.org/mbriefs/73. html
- <sup>203</sup> Rachel Orlins-Bergman. "Taking the First Step:Art Museums and Venture Philanthropy." http://www.qm2.org/mbriefs/74. html
- <sup>204</sup> Institute of Museum and Library Services: Grant Applications: Available Grants: By Project Type: Digital Collections/Tools. 2007. http://www.imls.gov/applicants/project.shtm#tools
- <sup>205</sup> MacArthur Foundation: Digital Media and Learning. 2007. http://digitallearning.macfound.org/site/c.enJLKQNIFiG/b.2029199/k.BFC9/Home.htm
  - <sup>206</sup> http://www.netsquared.org/

- <sup>207</sup> http://www.nten.org/
- 208 http://www.fundraising123.org/
- <sup>209</sup> http://think.mtv.com/
- http://www.mtvu.com/on\_mtvu/activism/
- <sup>211</sup> Corporate Social Responsibility Press Release. "Civic-Minded Millennials Prepared to Reward or Punish Companies Based on Commitment to Social Causes." October 24, 2006. http://www.csrwire.com/PressRelease.php?id=6641
- <sup>212</sup> Katya's Non-Profit Marketing Blog. Katya Andresen. "Millennials Think Corporations Need a Conscience." October 2, 2007. http://www.nonprofitmarketingblog.com/site/millennials\_think\_corporations\_need\_a\_conscience/#When:21:37:00Z
- $^{213}$  Beth's Blog. Beth Kanter. "What Attracts Gen Y and Millennials to Volunteer?" December 17, 2007. http://beth.typepad.com/beths\_blog/2007/12/what-attracts-g.html